SUSTAINABLE MANURE MANAGEMENT VIA ANAEROBIC DIGESTION INTEGRATED WITH STRUVITE PRECIPITATION

BY

ANITA NAGARAJAN

Department of Bioresource Engineering

Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences

McGill University

Sainte-Anne-De-Bellevue, Montréal, Québec, Canada

April 2023



A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Master of Science

In

Bioresource Engineering

© Anita Nagarajan, 2023

ABSTRACT

The amount of livestock waste produced is monumental due to the increase in intensive agriculture. The manure management stage is one of the largest contributors to the carbon footprint of the Canadian livestock sector. To mitigate these harmful effects, various manure management strategies have been undertaken. Anaerobic digestion (AD) is one of the methods used to treat manure sustainably, producing biogas (which has multiple applications) and digestate, a valuable by-product. Historically, digestate was applied to farmlands as a source of fertilizer. However, excessive application of digestates on agricultural lands leads to environmental problems: eutrophication, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, heavy metal, and pathogen contamination.

To diminish the mentioned problems, the focus has shifted to finding alternate methods to treat these digestates that can reduce their impact but also give value-added products. Struvite precipitation is one such method wherein the produced crystals can be applied as a fertilizer. The struvite crystals contain good levels of magnesium, nitrogen, and phosphorus (elements crucial for a crop's growth), with other benefits such as relatively low solubility, compact storage, easy transportation, lower GHG emissions, lower soil and water contamination due to reduced leaching while giving the same effect as conventional fertilizers in crop yield. Furthermore, struvite crystal production has been underutilized using agricultural waste streams which contain a considerable amount of nutrients that can be recovered and recycled, especially anaerobic digestates of nitrogenrich livestock waste streams.

This thesis aims to ascertain struvite production in an agricultural scenario from anaerobic digestates of varying compositions to encourage valorizing wastes for the recovery of nutrients and to implement sustainable circular economic principles. This is done by first devising a protocol to validate the conditions: pH 9, 1.5 Mg/P, and 240 rpm. Digestates obtained from the co-digestion

of different wastes and mono-digestion of poultry manure were initially tested, where 3 sets of trials were done to see the efficacy of different phosphorus salts on nitrogen recovery and mass production. Nitrogen (N) recovery of \geq 95% was achieved for all the digestates, also causing a substantial volatile fatty acids reduction. While the recovery was on par, the mass of crystals produced varied with the digestates, with a range of 0.33g/10 ml to 1g/10 ml being produced.

To advance the idea of bio-economic sustainability, integration of AD with struvite precipitation is proposed. To determine its feasibility, the efficiency of high solids anaerobic digester using codigested wastes was assessed for one representative cycle of operation of 77 days with more emphasis on the struvite precipitation, which was conducted at the end of the cycle to maximize recovery of nutrients and energy. The AD presented good results, with a maximum specific methane yield of 1.26 L CH₄/g COD_{s fed} for D1 (poultry and dairy manures and corn silage) and 1.49 L CH₄/ COD_{s fed} for D2 (poultry, dairy, swine manures and corn silage), which was achieved at the end of the respective operation cycle. The N recovery was very high (around 98-99%), producing 0.67 g/10 ml for all the phosphorus salts. The overall results of this study show that high N recovery is possible in co-digested wastes when struvite precipitation is used, with further opportunities to scale up and integrate this with AD to create a closed nutrient loop cycle.

The goal is to show that struvite has immense potential in the agricultural sector, promoting a circular economy as it maximizes energy and nutrient production. The advantage of the struvite compound outweighs the direct usage of digestate as a fertilizer. Detailed research can be pursued to scale up the integration process and assess its capabilities as a fertilizer.

RÉSUMÉ

La quantité de déchets d'élevage produite est monumentale en raison de l'augmentation de l'agriculture intensive. L'étape de gestion du fumier est l'une des plus importantes contributions à l'empreinte carbone du secteur de l'élevage Canadien. Pour atténuer les effets néfastes de ces déchets, diverses stratégies de gestion du fumier ont été entreprises. La digestion anaérobie (DA) est l'une des méthodes utilisées pour traiter le fumier. Cette méthode durable produit du biogaz (qui a de multiples fonctions) et le sous-produit qu'est le digestat. Historiquement, le digestat était appliqué sur les terres agricoles comme source d'engrais. Cependant, une application excessive des digestats entraîne des problèmes environnementaux : eutrophisation, émissions de gaz à effet de serre (GES), contamination par des métaux lourds et des agents pathogènes.

Afin de réduire les problèmes mentionnés, on a commencé à rechercher des méthodes de traitement de ces digestats qui peuvent non seulement réduire leur impact, mais aussi donner des produits utiles. La précipitation de la struvite est l'une de ces méthodes, les cristaux produits pouvant être utilisés comme engrais. Les cristaux de struvite contiennent de bons niveaux de magnésium, d'azote et de phosphore (éléments cruciaux pour la croissance d'une culture) ; avec d'autres avantages tels qu'une relativement faible solubilité, des cristaux compacts pour un stockage et un transport facile, une réduction des émissions de GES, une réduction de la contamination du sol et de l'eau en raison de la diminution du lessivage, tout en ayant le même effet que les engrais conventionnels sur le rendement des cultures. En outre, la production des cristaux de struvite a été sous-utilisée dans l'emploi des flux de déchets agricoles qui contiennent une quantité considérable de nutriments qui peuvent être récupérés et recyclés, en particulier les digestats anaérobies des flux de déchets d'élevage riches en azote.

Ce mémoire vise à déterminer la production de struvite dans un scénario agricole à partir de digestats anaérobies de compositions variées afin d'encourager la valorisation des déchets pour la récupération des nutriments et de mettre en œuvre des principes économiques circulaires durables. Pour ce faire, il faut d'abord mettre au point un protocole permettant de valider les conditions : pH 9, 1,5 Mg/P et 240 rpm. Des déchets co-digérés de compositions variées et du mono-digestat de volaille ont été initialement testés - 3 séries d'essais ont été faites pour voir l'efficacité de différents sels de phosphore sur la récupération de l'azote et la masse produite. Une récupération de l'azote (N) de \geq 95% a été obtenue pour tous les digestats entraînant aussi une réduction substantielle des acides gras volatils. Alors que la récupération était égale, la masse de cristaux produite variait avec les digestats ; une gamme de 0,33g/10 ml à 1g/10 ml de cristaux étant produite.

Pour faire avancer l'idée de la durabilité bioéconomique, l'intégration de la DA avec la précipitation de struvite est proposée. Pour déterminer sa faisabilité, l'efficacité d'un digesteur anaérobie à haute teneur en solides utilisant des déchets co-digérés a été évaluée sur une période de 77 jours, en mettant l'accent sur la précipitation de struvite qui a été effectuée à la fin du cycle pour maximiser la récupération des nutriments et de l'énergie. La DA a donné de bons résultats, avec des rendements spécifiques en méthane compris entre 1,26 L/g DCOs alimenté pour D1 (les fumiers de volaille et de bovin et ensilage de maïs) et entre 1,49 L/g DCOs alimenté pour D2 (les fumiers de volaille, de bovin, de porc et ensilage de maïs). La récupération d'azote a été très élevée (environ 98-99%), produisant 0,67 g/10 ml pour tous les sels de phosphore. Les résultats globaux de cette étude montrent qu'une récupération élevée d'azote est possible dans les déchets co-digérés lorsque la précipitation de struvite est utilisée ; avec d'autres possibilités de mise à l'échelle et d'intégration de la DA pour créer un cycle fermé de nutriments.

L'objectif final est de montrer que le struvite a un immense potentiel dans le secteur agricole, en favorisant l'économie circulaire, car il maximise la production d'énergie et de nutriments. Les avantages de la struvite l'emportent sur l'utilisation directe du digestat comme engrais. Des recherches approfondies pourront être menées à l'avenir afin de mettre à l'échelle le processus d'intégration et d'évaluer ses capacités en tant qu'engrais.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely acknowledge the key people whose roles were influential in bringing this thesis to completion. The work encompassed in these pages culminating in the form of my thesis is due to their gracious support.

I express my deepest appreciation to Dr. Vijaya Raghavan, my supervisor at McGill, for sharing his valued expertise and knowledge with me. For encouraging me to broaden my horizons, which helped in framing this thesis. In addition, for being patient and understanding throughout the duration of my thesis.

I offer my sincere gratitude to Dr. Rajinikanth Rajagopal, my co-supervisor at Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Sherbrooke Research and Development Centre (RDC), for giving me the opportunity to work and learn at his lab. I extremely value his support and guidance, which helped in carrying out the experiments. I appreciate the financial support I received from AAFC, project no. 3608 during the tenure of my research.

I am grateful to Professional Associate Mr. Yvan Gariépy for helping me with all lab-related work at McGill.

I would be remiss if I did not mention the technicians of the lab: Mathieu Béchard, Jérôme Dubreuil, Julie Doyon and others at AAFC for giving their suggestions, sharing their technical knowledge, and aiding me in completing my experiments.

Last but not least, my family and friends for their eternal love and support, without whom this thesis would not be complete.

THESIS FORMAT AND CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

This thesis structure is in accordance with the manuscript-based thesis format approved by the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies, McGill University, and follows the conditions outlined in their Guidelines: Concerning Thesis Preparation.

As such, following this guideline, this thesis contains the following chapters:

Chapter I: Introduction, including the hypothesis and objectives of the work presented in this thesis.

Chapter II: Literature review, where the potential of struvite produced using livestock waste streams is discussed. Furthermore, factors pertaining to its production are also mentioned.

Chapter III: Sustainable Recovery of Nutrients from Anaerobic Digestates via Struvite Precipitation.

Chapter IV: Integration of Anaerobic Digestion with Struvite Precipitation to Circularity in Manure Management.

Chapter V: General Summary and Conclusion.

Below are the manuscripts which are published:

Nagarajan, A., Goyette B., Raghavan, V., Bhaskar, A., & Rajagopal, R. (2023). Nutrient recovery via struvite production from livestock manure-digestate streams: Towards closed loop bio-economy, Process Safety and Environmental Protection, Volume 171, Pages 273-288, ISSN 0957-5820, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2023.01.006.

The other 2 chapters (Chapter III and Chapter IV) are being prepared for publication.

The content comprising these manuscripts- review of literature, experimental work, analysis of results and preparation of manuscripts was carried out by Anita Nagarajan. Prof. G.S. Vijaya Raghavan (Supervisor), from the Department of Bioresource Engineering, Macdonald Campus of McGill University, and Dr. Rajinikanth Rajagopal (Co-Supervisor), Research Scientist, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Sherbrooke Research and Development Centre (RDC) supervised the work carried out primarily at AAFC, Sherbrooke RDC plus in editing the manuscripts. Manuscripts were reviewed by all the co-authors listed.

ABSTRACT	ii
1 RÉSUMÉ	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vii
THESIS FORMAT AND CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	x
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
1 CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER I-II CONNECTING STATEMENT	
2 CHAPTER II	5
2.1 Abstract	5
2.2 Introduction	6
2.3 Animal Manure's Nutrient Recovery Potential	
2.4 Factors that Affect Precipitation of Struvite	
2.4.1. Effect of pH	
2.4.2. Effect of molar ratios	
2.4.3. Effect of temperature	
2.4.4 Degree of supersaturation	
2.4.5. Effect of stirring speed	
2.4.6. Effect of co-existing/competitive ions	
2.4.7. Chemicals that can be added for struvite formation	
2.5 Methods of Struvite Recovery	
2.6 Future Research Directions	
2.6.1. Integration of anaerobic digestion with struvite precipitation	
2.6.2. K-struvite studies	
2.6.3. Pathogen and heavy metal removal	
2.6.4. Emissions study	
2.6.5. Effect on crop production	
2.6.6. Economic aspect of production	
2.7 Conclusion	
CHAPTER II-III CONNECTING STATEMENT	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3 CHAPTER III	39
3.1 Abstract	39
3.2 Introduction	40
3.3 Methods and Experimental Set-Up	
3.3.1 Digestate collection	
3.3.2 Experimental set-up	
3.3.3 Methods for digestate characterization	
3.3.4 Validation of chosen parameters: optimal Mg/P ratio, pH and mixing rat struvite production	
3.4 Results and Discussion	45
3.4.1 Nitrogen recovery from various phosphorus salts	45
3.4.2 Mass of struvite produced	47
3.4.3 VFA reduction	
3.5 Conclusion	50
CHAPTER III-IV CONNECTING STATEMENT	
4 CHAPTER IV	
4.1 Abstract	52
4.2 Introduction	53
4.3 Methods and Experimental Set-Up	55
4.3.1 Raw feedstocks and digestates sampling	55
4.3.2. Experimental set-up	
4.3.3. Methods for sample characterization	58
4.4 Results and Discussion	
4.4.1. Digester performance and relationship between SMY, biogas production ratios (C3/C2, C4+C5/C2 and TVFA/TA)	
4.4.2 Relationship between %TS, % VS, pH, alkalinity, TAN, TKN, CODs, V	/FA 62
4.4.3. Struvite precipitation, nitrogen Recovery and crystal mass produced	66
4.5 Conclusion	67
CHAPTER IV-V CONNECTING STATEMENT	69
5 CHAPTER V	70
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	70
6 REFERENCES	72

LIST OF FIGURES

<i>Figure 2.1</i> Graphical abstract of the struvite cycle
Figure 3.1. % Nitrogen recovery from digestates using various phosphorus salts
Figure 3.2. Weight of produced struvite crystals from digestates using various phosphorus salts
Figure 3.3. Total VFA reduction by precipitating struvite in digestates using various phosphorus
salts
Figure 4.1. The flowchart depicts the working of the percolation-recirculation digester
<i>Figure 4.2.</i> Relationship between %CH ₄ and %CO ₂ for both the solid and liquid digesters for the
cycles of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy,
poultry, swine manures and corn silage)
Figure 4.3. Relationship between cumulative biogas with SMY (COD _{s fed})/SMY(VS) for the
whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy,
poultry, swine manures and corn silage)
Figure 4.4. Acid ratios and TVFA/TA for D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and
D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)
Figure 4.5. Relationship between %TS and %VS for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of
dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn
silage)
Figure 4.6. Relationship between TAN and TKN for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of
dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn
silage)
Figure 4.7. Relationship between pH and alkalinity for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of
dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn
silage)
Figure 4.8. Relationship between CODs and TVFA for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of
dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn
silage)
Figure 4.9. % N recovery and weight produced from various phosphorus salts

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. List of struvite production using swine manure/wastewater	12
<i>Table 2-2</i> . List of struvite production using dairy/cattle, poultry and miscellaneous manures/	
wastewaters	19
Table 3-1. Characteristics of the various digestates used for struvite precipitation.	42
Table 4-1. Characteristics of the raw feedstock used for the HSAD	55
Table 4-2. Characteristics of the wastes used for AD and of the digestate used for struvite	
precipitation	56

ABBREVIATIONS

AD	Anaerobic Digestion	NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
°C	Degree Celsius	OLR	Organic Loading Matter
Ca	Calcium	ОМ	Organic Matter
CH ₄	Methane	Р	Phosphorus
CHP	Combined Heat and Power	pН	Potential of Hydrogen
CODs	Soluble Chemical Oxygen Demand	rpm	Revolution/Rotation per Minute
CODt	Total Chemical Oxygen Demand	SEM	Scanning Electron Microscope
CS	Continuous Stirred	SMY	Specific Methane Yield
CSTR	Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor	SRT	Solid Retention Time
DM	Dry Matter	ТА	Total Alkalinity
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	TAN	Total Ammonical Nitrogen
FBR	Fluidized Bed Reactor	TKN	Total Kjedahl Nitrogen
FS	Free Solids	TS	Total Solids
g	Grams	TVFA	Total Volatile Fatty Acids
GHG	Greenhouse Gas	UASB	Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket Reactor
H ₃ PO ₄	Phosphoric Acid	VFA	Volatile Fatty Acids
HC1	Hydrochloric Acid	VS	Volatile Solids
HSAD	High Solids Anaerobic Digester	WW	Wastewater
HRT	Hydraulic Retention Time	WWTP's	Wastewater Treatment Plants
Κ	Potassium		
kg	Kilogram		
KH ₂ PO ₄	Potassium Phosphate		
MAP	Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate		
Mg	Magnesium		
MgCl ₂	Magnesium Chloride		
Ν	Nitrogen		
N.A.	Not Available		
NaHPO ₄	Sodium Phosphate		

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Based on 2014 estimations, there were approximately 19.6 billion poultry, 1.43 billion cattle, 0.98 billion swine and 1.87 billion sheep/goats (Robinson et al., 2014); this number projected to increase with demand caused by population growth. With these numbers, it is discernible the amount of manure that is produced per year. Manure management is thus essential to ameliorate environmental problems.

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is one of the sustainable manure management solutions, is a naturally occurring process, but when controlled and optimized, produces a high quantity of methane (Al Seadi & Lukehurst, 2012) which is used for various energy related purposes like heat, electricity, fuel, and fertilizer (Leiva et al.,2014; EPA,2014). Moreover, using manure for AD production in agriculture results in recycling nutrients, reducing GHG emissions and producing fossil-free biogas energy (Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009; Hou et al., 2017). AD is very proficient; about 20-95% of organic matter can be removed depending on the process used and waste characteristics (Moller and Müller, 2012). In AD, the upside of co-digestion of manures with other energy dense compounds is that not only does it increase the organic load, improve methane production and degradation efficiency, but it does not have any noticeable impact on hydraulic retention time (HRT) (Mata-Alvarez et al., 2014; Sondergaard et al., 2015; Ahlberg-Eliasson et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2020).

Post digestion, the digestate produced is around 90-95% of what was initially fed into the digester and is highly rich in nutrients (Lamolinara et al., 2022). The common way of disposing digestate is land application as a fertilizer in agriculture which minimizes environmental problems and encourages the economic sustainability of biogas (Iacovidou et al., 2013). However, if its application is misused (i.e., overapplied), it can impact the plant growth and soil ecosystem (Rigby & Smith, 2013) and also cause eutrophication due to leaching of N and P, which can create dead zones (Conley et al., 2009).

In an attempt towards sustainability, research is being focused on the recovery and recycling of nutrients, since the supply of resources for N fertilizer production and P rock reserves are finite and diminishing in nature (Dawson et al., 2011). It is important to note that recovery and reuse of 1 ton of both N and P results in many benefits, such as decrease in water and air pollution, GHG emissions, dependency on P reserves and natural gas for N production, environmental pollution because of reduced mining and related activities, plus reduced reliance on imported fertilizers due to nutrient supply diversification. (Buckwell et al., 2016).

As aforementioned, the benefits of nutrient recovery herald a pathway to sustainable agriculture. While the role of AD is indispensable, the digestate still has value that can be further valorized. Methods that are generally considered are physical adsorption, chemical precipitation, and biological uptake (Tran et al., 2014; Güiza et al., 2015). As part of chemical precipitation methods, struvite crystallization is one of the most promising methods as it recovers both N and P at the same time, supporting the agricultural nutrient loop (Muhmood et al., 2019). Struvite is an equimolar magnesium ammonium phosphate (MAP) compound with a molecular weight of 245.43 g/mol with decreasing solubility as it goes from acidic to alkalinity (Chirmuley, 1994).

While there are articles and review papers discussing the usage of agriculture wastewater for struvite production (Kumar & Pal, 2015; Darwish et al., 2016; Rahman et al., 2014; Kataki et al., 2016; Muhmood et al., 2019; Siciliano et al., 2020); there are few studies that concern themselves with using anaerobic digestates for struvite production. To be even more specific, there are not

many studies that focus on the co-digestion of multiple agricultural wastes, including N-rich poultry manures.

As inferred from above, there is potential in doing studies on assessing struvite production from co-digested wastes and poultry manure digestate. The characteristics of manure and the digestate makes it less likely to find one set of conditions that is universally applicable. As such, optimal conditions stated in various studies give an idea of the possible ranges for best struvite production. These conditions not only affect crystal production, but also % N recovery and the mass produced as discussed in the upcoming chapter.

Hence, to gain a deeper understanding of struvite production as a nutrient recovery step after the anaerobic digestion process, this thesis has several objectives:

- To initially evaluate struvite production from different types of anaerobic digestates. The purpose is to see if the conditions applied (pH 9, 3:2 Mg:P and 240 rpm) to the process not only ensures struvite formation but also yields a good percentage of % N recovery.

- To develop a protocol for struvite production and test its efficacy using different phosphorus salts- to determine if there is any variation in the recovery of nitrogen that could help to refine the process.

- To determine the potential of a closed-loop bioeconomic system by integrating AD with struvite precipitation, with an emphasis on the struvite characteristics to show that maximum nutrient and biogas recovery is feasible.

3

CHAPTER I-II CONNECTING STATEMENT

An overall gist was given of the current need to search for alternative fertilizers and the potential of using agricultural wastes, mainly the anaerobic digestates of livestock manure as a source in Chapter I. With this overview, we will now elaborate on the potential of using livestock waste streams, factors, methods, and studies done in the production of struvite in Chapter II.

CHAPTER II

Nutrient Recovery via Struvite Production from Livestock Manure-Digestate Streams: Towards Closed Loop Bio-Economy

2.1 Abstract

Phosphorous and Nitrogen are key nutrients for plants growth, usually supplemented in the form of fertilizers. Therefore, management and utilization of these compounds in a sustainable manner for agriculture is of importance to serve the rising global demand of food. One way is to valorize agricultural wastes in many different ways, like anaerobic digestion, struvite production and so on to maximize nutrient recovery and reduce wastage. Struvite recovery is one of the green marketing tools in the fertilizer industry, given the high amount of agriculture and livestock wastes produced. While struvite can be produced from a wide range of wastewater, this article provides an overview about struvite with an emphasis about its production from anaerobic digestates, manure and livestock wastewater and its prospective as a source of fertilizer. Furthermore, discussions about integration with anaerobic digestion, cost benefits and post application plant yields are reviewed to show its practicality and commercial potential. Despite constraints, struvite production promotes circular bioeconomic, sustainable process with a high nutrient recovery and this review will aid to take decisions in implementing this method in the near future.



Figure 2.1 Graphical abstract of the struvite cycle

Keywords: Nutrient Recovery, Circular Bioeconomy, Struvite, Anaerobic Digestion, Waste Management, Fertilizer

2.2 Introduction

Animal manure is a versatile, readily available substance that can be used for various purposes ranging from biogas production to valorization producing valuable by-products. However, misuse and ineffective management can cause intensification of nutrients/toxins in the soil (Fijalkowski et al., 2017), greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009), leaching of nutrients (Lamastra et al., 2018) and other environmental problems in the long run. Especially in cold countries such as Canada, where unmanaged livestock manure contributes to a non-point source

pollution (Duchemin & Hogue, 2009). For example, in 2019, about 7.9 Mt CO2 eq was produced from manure management in Canada (ECCC, 2021).

Animal manure is used directly as a fertilizer or as a substitute due to its rich content of nutrients. However, it is not the only source of fertilizers. Around 4946 k tonnes of NPK was used in Canada and global nutrient consumption was approximately 199,881 k tonnes of NPK in 2020/2021 (Nutrien, 2022). Unbalanced distribution of global phosphate rock reserves (Withers et al., 2015) coupled with projected increased usage due to population increase propels us to find new ways to recover and recycle P that can provide the same quality of current fertilizers.

One way to treat animal manure is to subject them to anaerobic digestion, a commonly used method which produces biogas which can be utilized (Romero-Güiza et al., 2014). But anaerobic digestion is only 13–65 % efficient while converting organic matter, which means the digestate is still concentrated with nutrients (Monlau et al., 2015). Digestate can be processed further to produce recyclables like fiber products, fertilizers, and clean water (Holm Nielsen et al., 2009). While many methods are present to recover the remaining nutrients, Struvite, MgNH₄PO₄.6H₂O (MAP-Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate) whose removal by chemical precipitation from ammonia/phosphate rich wastewater has increasingly seen a demand. This has been mainly commercialized for municipal/industrial wastewater (Burns et al., 2003) as the formation of struvite in those cases affects the quality of the process (Ye et al., 2010). Attention has now shifted towards source recovery from livestock wastes, especially from livestocks: Swine, Dairy and Poultry (Balaman, 2019).

Recovery of struvite as a dry fertilizer is more suitable for its application, storage and transportation (Rech et al., 2020). Application of MAP (struvite) in the agriculture sector is a profitable investment (Hao et al., 2013). In fact, generating 1 kg of MAP per day is enough to

fertilize 2.6 ha of arable land (Kumar & Pal, 2015). Studies have also shown that struvite is more effective than commercially used phosphorus fertilizers (González-Ponce et al., 2009; Szymanska et al., 2019a). Further, integration and implementation of struvite recovery with circular economic models encourages our transition towards sustainability and ensures sustainable production. This provides a multitude of benefits but also improves manure management thus reducing costs and amount of waste produced in the future.

The possibilities of struvite seem promising. Using this method can reduce the impact of animal manure by providing an alternative fertilizer and thus ensuring sustainable agriculture. On the other hand, not a lot of studies have focused on livestock wastewater and their potential to produce struvite. Even less studies have been done on pathogen and heavy metal contents, GHG reduction potential and overall cost- effectiveness of this process on a larger scale using animal manure/ digestates. In this light, this paper aims to provide a comprehensive review of (i) Nutrient recovery potential from animal manure (ii) The technologies and types of manure that are commonly used to produce struvite (iii) Various benefits of producing struvite from animal manure and the associated problems of implementing this technology on a larger scale.

2.3 Animal Manure's Nutrient Recovery Potential

Total global livestock in 2018 was around 965 million cattle, 242 million pigs and 237 million chickens (FAOSTAT Analytical Brief 14, 2020) with this number projected to increase slowly but steadily. For instance, livestock will produce waste estimating to about 55 billion tonnes of manure per year being generated (Girotto & Cossu, 2017). This clearly shows the potential of using animal manure for nutrient recovery purposes. Animal manure is rich in nutrients – containing carbon, metals, nitrogen, phosphorus and minerals (Brusseau & Artiola, 2019). In fact, livestock manure reached about 125 million tonnes of N in 2018; Out of which only 34 million were treated by

manure management, the rest just left in pasture or directly applied to soil (FAOSTAT Analytical Brief 14, 2020). In the case of phosphorus, 12–14 Mt of P is produced by livestock manure worldwide (Smit et al., 2009). Hence, it is not surprising that animal manure is used to enrich the soil. But given the intensification over the years, manure today tends to have other substances like residual amounts of pesticides and antibiotics that could lead to further problems like leaching to groundwater and also uptake by the crops that are grown for human consumption. Continuous application of animal manure and other organic fertilizers is increasing the problem of antibiotic resistance (Cheng et al., 2013; Fahrenfeld et al., 2014). For instance, J. Li et al. (2017) found that long term manure application can increase the levels of residual antibiotics and antibiotic resistant genes (ARG's) presence in the soil and gave suggestions to reduce the same. Also spreading of manure directly on land is now regulated by policies and legislations to manage the odor, nutrient and waste management, disposal methods, soil and water contamination and pollution (Balaman, 2019). This means that new opportunities are sought out to recover nutrients in a sustainable manner.

Many methods exist to manage manure and extract nutrients from it. Struvite is one such option. Studies have focused mostly on wastewater and then digestates from swine, dairy, or livestock. One of the popular methods for biomass conversion process is anaerobic digestion to produce biogas. The digestate produced can later be further processed to make struvite. The liquid phase can be used directly for recovery of struvite while the solid phase is first subjected to phosphorous dissolution and then recovery processes are carried out (Yilmazel & Demirer, 2011). Tables 1 and 2 both show the potential of using manure for struvite production; swine is mostly favored as a source, followed by dairy and then poultry. While studies generally focus on liquid portion, there is also a possibility of recovering struvite even without digestion-like in conjunction with compost as seen in studies of Zhang & Lau (2007) and Fukumoto et al. (2011).

2.4 Factors that Affect Precipitation of Struvite

Like most chemical processes, the production of struvite is dependent on certain factors. These can affect the quality and quantity of the struvite produced and are discussed in the following subsections. On that note, this section aims to describe the provisions for struvite precipitation regardless of the type of animal manure/wastewater used. The range of values presented for each factor depicts the most suitable conditions necessary for the precipitation of struvite.

2.4.1. Effect of pH

It is important to maintain pH, as the formation of struvite is dependent on it (Uludag-Demirer et al., 2005). Kim et al. (2016) found from their analysis that the optimal pH was between 8 and 9 and from Visual MINTEQ the pH was 7–11 for struvite formation. Muhmood et al. (2021), on the other hand found that organic substances reduce the amount recovered at pH 8–9. Tünay et al. (1997) and Huang et al. (2017), both show that the optimal pH is around the ranges of 8.5–9.3. pH around 7–7.5 gave a struvite content of 95 % showing that pH close to neutral can also produce struvite (Hao et al., 2013). While optimal range of pH is taken to be 7–11, different studies used different pH according to their experimental design for their trials as shown in the Tables 1 and 2.

2.4.2. Effect of molar ratios

It is seen that an optimum ratio of 1:1:1 (Mg:N:P) (Warmadewanthi et al., 2020) is recommended as struvite is an equimolar compound of MAP. Depending on whether N or P is to be removed, optimization of the conditions for the maximum efficiency of removal is necessary (Zhou & Wu, 2012). This is shown in the tables of struvite production using digestates, manures and wastewater, where different ratios are utilized as per their requirement as seen in Tables 1 and 2.

2.4.3. Effect of temperature

Temperature plays a key role in determining their solubility, speed of formation and morphology of the crystals. Studies show that the optimal range for struvite formation is around 25–35 °C; with 30 °C being the temperature where struvite reaches a minimum solubility (Aage et al., 1997). However, steady rise of temperature from 14 °C– 35 °C, show an increase in both the ionic activity and Struvite coefficient causing a reduction of at least 30 % in the efficiency of crystal formation (Moussa et al., 2011). Studies have shown that as temperature increased from 25 °C to 37 °C the morphology of the crystals changed from prismatic to dendritic structure (Babic-Ivancic et al., 2002). A similar pattern is also noticed in the degree of supersaturation which is discussed below.

2.4.4 Degree of supersaturation

This factor determines the probability of crystal formation. The study done by Shaddel et al. (2019) shows that increasing the supersaturation showed a remarkable difference in the morphology of the crystals, which turned from a polyhedral to rough, dendrite like structure; while supersaturation plays a key role, the pH and concentration of ammonium and magnesium ions also contribute to the final structure.

Also from the same study, one can note that at lower supersaturation levels and pH there is stronger aggregation of struvite particles. This in turn can have a difference in the purity and quality of the crystals. This factor is important to regulate as it affects the crystal size and shape- aggregation of struvite particles preferring the granular round shape which is easier to transport and use in equipment (ESPP, 2016).

Waste	Method	Volume of Digestate Used (L)	pH	pH Control	Salts added	Molar Ratio Mg:N:P	Ca Conc. (mg/L)	Initial ((mg/		Remo	oval %	Comments	References
								NH4-N	PO ₄ -P	Ν	Р		
	Batch Reactor	0.100	9.0	NaOH and HCl	MgSO4 , fermented Super Phosphate	N.A.	N.A.	589-607	21-22	55	64	 Subjected to AD HRT:>60 days Reactor Capacity: 0.100L Mixing Speed:200 rpm for 30 minutes Resulting struvite used for Plant trials Supernatant in the process used for biological treatment 	Luo et al. (2019)
Swine	Batch Reactor	1	8.8	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	1.5:0:1.0	N.A.	2974-3907	1120- 1468	40	89	 Subjected to AD Mixing Speed: 100 rpm 10 minutes reaction time Various other sets of trials were done Subjected to AD 	Lee at al. (2015)
	Air-Lift Reactor	5	9	NaOH HCl	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O KH ₂ PO ₄	1.2:1.0:1.0	N.A.	1725-1825	226-216	95	97	 Reactor HRT: 10 minutes in the mixing zone HRT overall: 3 hours 	Kim et al. (2016)

Table 2-1. List of struvite production using swine manure/wastewater.

Batch Reactor	1	9.5	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O Sewage sludge ash	1.2:1.0:1.0	N.A.	2511-3771	54-68	92	100	 Ultrasonic Pre- treatment for phosphate release Subjected to AD Sewage Sludge Ash was used in the experiments Experiment done at room temperature Mixing Speed: 400 rpm 60 minutes reaction time Various set of trials done 	Kwon et al. (2018)
Batch Reactor	1.5	9	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O KH ₂ PO ₄	1.0:1.0:1.0	61	234	42	71	97	 Subjected to AD Temperature: 25°C Mixing Speed: 500 rpm 60 minutes reaction Subjected to AD 	Perera et al. (2007)
Batch Reactor	3	9	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O KH ₂ PO ₄	1.2:1.0:1.2	65	296	64	71	97	 Mixing Speed:500 rpm and accumulating device 50 rpm 900 minutes reaction time Recover Copper and 	Perera et al. (2009)
Batch Reactor	0.150	9	NaOH	MgSO4 Na2HPO4.12H 2O	1.3:1.0:0.8	279	1660	209	78	6	 Zinc free struvite Subjected to AD with Maize Silage and Crushed Corn Grain Temperature:20°C and 35°C Mixing Speed: 250 rpm and 150 rpm 	Vidlarova et al. (2017)

Batch Reactor	0.100	9	NaOH	MgSO ₄	N.A.	N.A.	800	10-30	N.A.	75	 Subjected to AD HRT: 56 days Wrigley et al. (1992) About the second se
Batch Reactor	0.200	10	NaOH	MgO H3PO4	1.0:1.0:1.0	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	77	80	 Subjected to AD with industrial and municipal Taddeo & biodegradable wastes Lepisto Source: Raw Slurry (2015) 30 minutes reaction time
Batch	1000	N.A	CO ₂ Stripping	N.A.	1.79 (Mg/P)	123.6	706	40.3	90	85	 Subjected to AD Source: Swine WW HRT for the reactor Song et al. 2.5-5.5 hours (2011) Another set of trials done with CSTR
Batch Reactor	0.400	10	NaOH	MgCl ₂ Na ₃ PO ₄	1.0:1.2:1.0	N.A.	1013-1426	55-139	87	96	 Source: Swine WW Mixing Speed: 400 rpm for 10 minutes then 160 rpm for 30 minutes
Electrolyti c Reactor	4.0	N.A	CO ₂ Stripping.	MgCl ₂	2 M struvite disolved. 0.5 M MgCl ₂	N.A.	2513-2707	32.48- 29.19	53	79	 Source: Swine WW Phosphorus Dissolution and Recycling 1.5 hour reaction time Source: Swine WW
Crystalliza tion reactor	4000	8.1	Aeration	N.A.	N.A.	83	N.A.	68	N.A.	N.A.	 HRT of reactor- 22.3 hours and of aeration Suzuki et al. column 3.6 hours (2005) 8 Month operation of the reactor
CSTR	2.72(workin g volume of the reaction zone)	N.A	CO ₂ Stripping	MgCl ₂	1:1 (Mg/P)	N.A.	3809.83	60.01	31.47	93	 Source: Swine WW HRT- 4 hours in the reaction zone Rahman et al. (2011)

											• Resulting struvite used for Soil Test	
Crystalliza tion Reactor	4000 or 5300	7.5- 8.5	NaOH CO2 Stripping	Bittern	N.A.	255	532	72	N.A.	73	 Source: Swine WW HRT of reactor: 16.8/22.3 hours and 2.7/3.6 hours in the aeration column Operated for 3.5 years 	Suzuki et al. (2007)
Microbial Fuel Cell	0.070 (anode chamber)	N.A	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	190	N.A.	110	N.A.	82	 Source: Swine WW 76 days of operation Phase 1: 49 days Phase 2: 27 days Source: Swine WW 	Ichihashi & Hirooka (2012)
Batch Digestion	0.400	9.0	NaOH	MgCl ₂	1.6:1 (Mg/P)	N.A.	N.A.	572	N.A.	91	 24 hour reaction time Also did a field study in a storage pond containing 14,000L of liquid swine manure agitated for 50 minutes after Mg addition 	Burns et al. (2001)
Jar Test	0.800	N.A	N.A.	MgO	2.25:1(Mg:C a) 3:1(N:P)	645	N.A.	629	N.A.	>90	 Source: Synthetic biologically treated WW Temperature: <20°C Mixing Speed: 90 rpm for 30 seconds during Mg addition and 24 hours Average mixing speed: 45-90 rpm 	Capdevielle et al. (2013)

Subjected to ٠ composting with Compostin Corn Stalk 15% 3.8 g/kg DM N.A Production of struvite Jiang et al. g with ٠ 60 N.A. N.A. MgO H₃PO₄ mol/mol of N.A. N.A. N.A. forced (2016b) using various initial N Additives aeration Composted for 5 ٠ weeks Source: Pig Manure • Compostin and mix of Pig 3000 MgCl₂.H₂O g with 1900 manure and Mature Fukumoto et 32 and 100 7.3 N.A. N.A. N.A. mg/kg N.A. N.A. forced H₃PO₄ mg/kg DM Swine Compost al. (2011) DM aeration 76-91 days of ٠ operation Subject to AD with ٠ food waste **Biological Treatment** ٠ of AD digestate Mixing Speed: ٠ Batch MgCl₂.6H₂O Ryu et al. 2 1.4:1.0:1.0 10 HCl NaOH N.A. 1807-2119 74 83 144,000 rpm for 2 4.6-32.8 KH₂PO₄ (2020)Reactor minutes 30 minutes reaction ٠ time High removal of ٠ Copper and Zinc Subjected to AD • • HRT-36 days Temperature: 35°C (٠ Moody et al. Jar Test NaOH MgO 3.2:1 (Mg:P) 2360 1591.2 98 for one set of trials) 0.300 9 N.A. N.A. (2009)Mixing for 15 ٠ minutes 15 minutes reaction ٠ time

4 hours and 24 hours

reaction time

•

Crystalliza tion reactor	20	9	NaOH CO ₂ Stripping	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	N.A.	418	4342	87.8	>85	N.A.	 Subjected to AD Temperature: 25-36°C 30 minutes reaction time Resulting struvite was used for Soil Test Pilot plant was built on a Dairy farm with a volume of 3100L Subjected to AD 	Cerrillo et al. (2015)
Semi- CSTR	2	N.A	N.A.	MgCl ₂ Mg(OH) ₂ KH ₂ PO ₄	1.0:1.0:1.0	0-400	400-2300	N.A.	>80	N.A.	 Subjected to AD Use of Stabilizing agent Temperature: 37°C Mixing Speed: 80 rpm HRT of reactor: 20 days 	Romero- Guiza et al. (2014)
Jar Test	N.A.	10	N.A.	MgCl ₂ NH4Cl	0.7- 2.1:1.0:1.0	67.67- 82.15	N.A.	40.5-50.5	N.A.	85	 Ultrasound/H₂O₂ Digestion pre- treatment Temperature: 24- 25°C Mixing Speed: 55- 545 rpm for 2 hours Source: Swine WW 	Zhang et al. (2018)
Intermitten tly Aerated Reactors	10 (of one reactor)	9	NaOH	MgCl ₂ KH ₂ PO ₄	N.A.	N.A.	732-931	30-56	90	97	 Source: Swine w w SRT: 20 days Done as a pre- treatment for AD 2 reactors and a settler of volume 5L 	Ryu & Lee, (2010)
Jar Test	0.500	8- 8.5	NaOH	Magnesium Pyrolysate H ₃ PO ₄	2.5:1.0:1.0	135	1013-1426	55-139	80	96	 Source: Swine WW Intermittent agitation for 1 min at different intervals of 0.5-8 hours 	Huang et al. (2011)

											• Did another trial with Struvite pyrolysate	
Batch Jar Test	N.A.	8- 10	N.A.	MgO H ₃ PO ₄	3.0 :1.0 :1.5	N.A.	1855-4500	45-80	N.A.	N.A.	 Source: Slurry Swine WW Done as a pre- treatment for AD Also produced struvite from stock ammonium solution 	Kim et al. (2004)
Batch Reactor	100	8.5	CO ₂ Stripping	MgSO4 Mg(OH)2	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	83	 Subjected to AD with Vegetable residues, HRT-150 days Solid-Liquid Separation 2.5-6 hours reaction time depending on the Mg salt 	Pintucci et al. (2017)

٠

- HRT Hydraulic Retention Time
- SRT- Sludge Retention Time/ Solid Retention Time
- AD- Anaerobic Digestion
- WW- Wastewater
- N.A. Not Available
- Rpm-Revolutions per minute
- CSTR- Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor
- DM- Dry Matter
- FBR- Fluidized Bed Reactor
- CS- Continuous Stirred

Waste	Method	pН	pH Control	Salts added	Molar Ratio Mg:N:P	Ca Conc.	Initial ((mg/	′L)		oval %	Comments References
					1vig.1v.r	(mg/L)	NH4-N	PO ₄ -P	Ν	Р	
	CS Batch Reactor	8.5-9.2	NaOH	MgCl ₂ Mg(OH) ₂ Na ₂ HPO ₄	2.2:1.0:4.8	N.A.	225-519	N.A.	95	N.A.	 Subjected to AD SRT/HRT: 20 days for 1 phase SRT/HRT: 2,8,10 days Uludag- for 2 phase Temperature:21-22°C Volume of Digestate Used::0.050L Mixing Speed:4000 rpm for 20 minutes
Dairy/ Cattle	Batch Jar Test	9.0	N.A.	Bittern Bone Meal	1.3:1.0:1.3	N.A.	1060	450	91	99	 Subjected to AD with Food Waste (Corn Silage and Olive Oil Waste), o SRT:20 days Temperature:20-22°C, Siciliano & Volume of Digestate Used::0.250L Rosa (2014) Mixing Speed: 300 rpm, 15 minutes reaction time
	Crystallization Reactor	10.0	N.A.	MgCl ₂ Na ₂ HPO ₄	1.6:1.2:1.0	N.A.	100-700	10-60	>89	>99	 Subjected to AD, Volume of Digestate Used::6.69L, Resulting struvite used for Plant trials
	CSTR	9.0	NaOH	MgCl ₂	N.A.	N.A.	3000	183	N.A.	44	 Subjected to AD Part of a bio-refinery Liquid portion of digestate after Sanitation was used for struvite precipitation Szymanska et al. (2019b)
	Batch Jar Test	8.2	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	1.5:0:1.0	268	1229	65	N.A	80	 Subjected to AD Volume of Digestate Used::1L Mixing for 1 hour Brown et al. (2018)

Table 2-2. List of struvite production using dairy/cattle, poultry and miscellaneous manures/ wastewaters.

Batch Reactor	9	КОН	Brine	1:0.5 (Urine/Brin e)	N.A.	7732	N.A.	N.A	N.A.	 Treated with Oxalic Acid to remove Calcium Source: Cow Urine 120 minutes reaction time, Resulting struvite used for Plant trials 	Prabhu & Mutnuri (2014)
Batch Jar Tests	8.3-9.8	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	0.75-1.2:1.0 (Mg:P) 1.2: 1 (Mg:N)	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	70.8- 92.7	 Subjected to AD via UASB of 1L volume Solid and liquid Separation Volume of Digestate Used::0.050 L Mixing for 5 mintues 10 minutes Reaction Time 	Rico et al. (2011)
Cone Shaped- FB crystallization Reactor	7.8	NaOH	MgCl ₂	0-155.4 mmol/L of salt	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	65- 82	N.A.	 Subjected to AD Solid-Liquid Separation Acidification and Addition of EDTA to remove Calcium A pilot study was done using the crystallizer 	Zhang et al. (2010)
Jar Test	7.2	NaOH	MgCl ₂	N.A.	1735	1405	19	N.A.	69	 Acidification pre-treatment and addition of EDTA/ Oxalic Acid to remove Calcium, Volume of Digestate Used::0.250 L Mixing Speed:10,000 rpm 15 minutes reaction time 	Shen et al. (2011)
Jar Test	7-11	NaOH	N.A.	N.A.	373	23.6	489	N.A.	<90	 Microwave pre-treatment, Volume of Digestate Used:: 0.25L Mixing Speed:20-40 rpm 24 hours reaction time 	Qureshi et al. (2008)
Jar Test	9.0	N.A.	MgCl ₂	2:1 (Mg:P)	N.A.	5.37 mg/g DM	0.48 mg/g DM	N.A.	<80	 Microwave pre-treatment, Volume of Digestate Used::0.10L Mixing Speed:200 rpm 	Jin et al. (2009)

	Cone Shaped- FB crystallization Reactor	8.5	KOH/NH 3	MgCl ₂	N.A.	80	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	<82	6	ao et al. 2010)
Poultry	Jar Test	8.5-11.5	NaOH	N.A.	1.3 Mg/P	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	24.3	93.7	• Temperature:20-22°C, Hida	algo et al. 2016)
	Jar test	9	NaOH HCl	MgCl ₂	1.5:1.0:1.25	347	N.A.	N.A.	56	N.A.	 Temperature:20-21°C (2 Mixing Speed: 180 rpm, 60 minutes reaction time Subjected to AD 	ng & Li 2006)
	Continuously Stirred Batch	8.5	N.A.	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O 75% H ₃ PO ₄	1.5:1.0:1.0	N.A.	4495- 4729	163	97	32	 Volume of Digestate Used:: 0.150L Temperature:20-21°C Mixing Speed:250 rpm for 30 minutes 60 minutes reaction time 	mazel & ermirer 2011)
	Continuously Stirred Batch	9	N.A.	N.A.	1.0:1.0:1.0	N.A.	1318	N.A.	85.4	N.A.	0.400L &	ilmezsoy Spaci- çin (2009)
	Jar Test	8.5	КОН	MgCl ₂	N.A.	301.5	1940	153.6	N.A.	>90	Manure subjected to various Rec	ch et al. 2020)

	Composting	N.A.	N.A.	MgCl ₂	1.0:1.0 (Mg:P)	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	 Volume of Digestate Used::1L Temperature:27°C Mixing for 60 minutes 240 minutes reaction time Source: Poultry manure mixed with Sawdust and Hog fuel Volume of Digestate Used::6L Forced Aeration Manual agitation every 1-4 day Each run lasted for about 10-13 days Subjected to AD with Maize Silage HRT: 13 days 	Zhang & Lau, (2007)
	CSTR	8.5	NaOH	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O NaH ₂ PO ₄ .2H ₂ O 75% H ₃ PO ₄	1.0:1.0:1.0 1.3:1.0:1.0 1.5:1.0:1.0	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	72.1	95.1	 Overall HRT: 78 days Solid-Liquid Separation Solid phase was treated by phosphorus dissolution before struvite experimentation Volume of Digestate Used::0.150L Temperature: 21-22°C Mixing Speed:250 rpm for 30 minutes 	Yilmazel & Dermirer (2013)
Miscell aneous WW	Continuous U- Shape Reactor	N.A.	CO ₂ Degasific ation	MgCl ₂	N.A.	24.6	470	96	N.A.	80-86	 60 minutes reaction time Subjected to AD Solid-Liquid Separation Source: Animal Manure WW Volume of Digestate Used::2L Various reaction time depending on the aeration flow rate 	Zhang et al. (2014)
	Jar Test	9.0	N.A.	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O NaH ₂ PO ₄ .2H ₂ O	1.2:1.0:1.0	N.A	240	N.A.	73	N.A.	 Source: Sheep Slaughterhouse WW Blood Clot was Filtered Volume of Digestate Used::0.400L Temperature:25°C 	Yetilmezsoy et al. (2022)
Airlift reactor	9.0	N.A.	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ O H ₃ PO ₄	1.0:1.0:1.0	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	97.5	97.7	 Mixing Speed: 120 rpm for 15 minutes 30 minutes reaction time Subjected to AD Source: Livestock WW Volume of Digestate Used::5L Min & Park HRT-180 minutes for the reactor (2021) 10 minutes reaction time in the 		
-----------------	-----	------	--	-------------	------	------	------	------	------	---		
										mixing zone		

٠

- HRT Hydraulic Retention Time
- AD- Anaerobic Digestion
- WW- Wastewater
- N.A. Not Available
- Rpm-Rotations per minute
- CSTR- Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor
- DM- Dry Matter
- FBR- Fluidized Bed Reactor
- CS- Continuous Stirred
- SRT- Solid Retention Time
- UASB: Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket Reactor
- EDTA- Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

2.4.5. Effect of stirring speed

A study done by Morales et al. (2019) showed that stirring rate did affect the formation of struvite, establishing that as speed increases the particle size formed decreases. While this did not affect the removal rate of P; the rate of N removed also increased with speed. The study recommended a rate of 100–200 rpm to lower energy consumption, producing larger crystals. By raising the speed from 160 rpm to 240 rpm, Liu et al. (2014), showed that precipitation efficiency of struvite increased by 33 %. On the other hand, stirring at 500 rpm or more reduced the growth of the struvite crystals (Hanhoun et al., 2011).

2.4.6. Effect of co-existing/competitive ions

The substrate contains a multitude of ions apart from N and P. Ions commonly found are Ca^{2+} , Na⁺, K⁺, CO₃²⁻, HCO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻. Various studies have evaluated and shown that these ions negatively affect the induction time, purity, shape, and size of the struvite crystals. To prevent the influence of these ions, different procedures are used to negate their effects. Regulating pH can prevent HCO₃⁻ and CO₃²⁻ forming stable products leading to less struvite (Huang et al., 2017). Increasing the molar ratios of magnesium and ammonium can prevent sodium and potassium from forming stable compounds (Siciliano et al., 2020). Ca²⁺, is the main ion that in high quantities severely impacts struvite precipitation (Koutsoukos et al., 2003); to counteract this, chelating agents such as Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) or oxalic acid are used to neutralize the ion (Shen et al., 2011; Brown et al., 2018).

2.4.7. Chemicals that can be added for struvite formation

As stated above, molar ratios are important when it comes to producing struvite. To increase the recovery rate, salts are added to ensure the reaction takes place. Below shows a few chemicals that are commonly added during the process:

• MgSO₄, MgCl₂, Mg(OH)₂, and MgO (Adnan et al., 2003; Fattah et al., 2010) and low-cost magnesium sources such as bittern (Huang et al., 2014).

• H₃PO₄ and phosphate salts such as Na₃PO₄, Na₂HPO₄, or NaH₂PO₄ (Kabdasl1 and Tünay, 2018)

• NaOH (Ueno and Fujii, 2001) and HCl (Ryu et al., 2020) are generally used for pH correction

In a study done by Zeng and Li (2006) showed that P removal depended on the type of Mg salt used; the order of highest removal being $MgCl_2 > MgSO_4 > MgO > Mg(OH)_2 > MgCO_3$. To summarize, while not many studies have focused on speed of formation and morphology, it commonly depends on the factors as seen in Sections 3.3 to 3.6. In addition, while crystals formed are affected by the conditions, they are also influenced by the waste used and their characteristics, causing them to be different from each other even if other conditions for precipitation are kept the same. Tables 1 and 2 also show the main factors that are considered during struvite precipitation trials.

2.5 Methods of Struvite Recovery

While factors impact the quality and quantity based on the type of methods used, they also determine the efficiency of the process. There are various methods in which one can use to produce Struvite as seen in the table below (Tables 1 and 2.). The types are often chosen depending on the type of waste used. Reactors are commonly used due to its simplicity and their versatility towards majority of the wastes handled. Reactors can also be configured according to one's needs. Removal of around 95 % N and 98 % P was observed by using an airlift reactor on continuous mode (Kim et al., 2016). Whereas, using a fluidized bed reactor in batch, 80 % P removal was obtained (Le Corre et al., 2007). Usage of reactors, usually termed as crystallization reactors, is favored as it is

more feasible and accessible as seen from the Tables 1 and 2. Due to a reactor's simplicity, it can be used and modified according to the type of waste used.

Electrochemical methods can also be used to recover P. In a microbial fuel cell using swine wastewater, the Struvite crystals are formed on the cathode and can be removed directly (Ichihashi & Hirooka, 2012). Both the following studies used anaerobic sludge/digestate from domestic wastewater plants. Around 90% of the phosphorous can be removed by using a microbial fuel cell (MFC), with struvite being obtained in a single chamber MFC (Tao et al., 2015). Using a microbial electrolysis cell, it reduces P around 70%– 85% and gave struvite as its main precipitate (Cusick et al., 2014), which is less compared to the other methods. This shows the potential of using electrochemical methods that utilize anaerobic digestate from animal manure and wastewaters.

Ion exchange and Membrane technologies are generally used with municipal wastewater and will not be discussed much in detail here. Bio- mineralization is a natural process of microorganisms to strengthen their structural tissues by mineral deposition (Da Silva et al., 2000). For example, using *Shenwanella oneidensis* MR-1, H. Li et al. (2017) found that this species can not only help grow Struvite it can also control the morphogenesis of the crystal. While studies have been done, there is scope to investigate the interactions and methodology that initiates the process within them. Also, more research should be done to scale-up the bio-mineralization process in order to produce Struvite from microorganisms.

While the method used for struvite production does help in increasing its production efficiency, the conditions used play a critical role in determining the recovery of nitrogen and phosphorus from the wastes (this also depends on the wastes and their characteristics). Other methods apart from using reactors were to show that there is a rising interest in producing struvite via these processes.

2.6 Future Research Directions

So far, we have discussed the capability of using animal manure to produce struvite by considering the key factors and methods available. These topics helped to get a basic idea of struvite and its functionality. In the next section, we are going to see the implications of using struvite to reduce pollution and achieve sustainability. The topics will cover from integration with other biological processes to economic prospects.

2.6.1. Integration of anaerobic digestion with struvite precipitation

To maximize the benefits, animal manure can be subjected to pre- treatment processes to make the nutrients more accessible for further processing. Pretreatments like acid leaching, microwave treatments, chelating agents and anaerobic digestion are generally used for farm wastes. Anaerobic digestion is a reliable technology used to manage waste (De Baere, 2000). However anaerobic digestion being a biological process that utilizes the energy contained in organic compounds to produce biogas (Manyi-Loh et al., 2013), it is a preferred method as it can produce biogas which can be used for other purposes around the farm.

Anaerobic digestion has various benefits- Reduction in GHG emissions (Styles et al., 2016; Tonini et al., 2016); Reductions in water depletion, acidification, and aquatic toxicity (Van Stappen et al., 2016); Reduction in the organic carbon introduced into the soil (Hamelin et al., 2011). Using compressed biogas produced from manure and by considering the avoidance of manure storage emission, a reduction of 257 % and a 700 % lower acidification and terrestrial eutrophication impact was found (van den Oever et al., 2021).

The digestate produced from the anaerobic digestion might have other uses, and one of the ways is to produce Struvite. The digestate contains a good amount of N and P that can be recovered instead of wastage. Moody et al. (2009) showed anaerobic digestion of swine manure to increase the amount of reactive phosphorus by 26 % and magnesium ions by 254 % leading to better removal and reduction efficiencies. The baseline to be considered is integrating the anaerobic digestion process with struvite production to extract the maximum amount of nutrients from the animal manure. The focus should be on making the integration of both processes a profitable and sustainable investment.

When it comes to scale-up it is generally done with municipal and industrial wastewater, and very rarely with livestock wastewater. There are around 80 commercial plants around the world producing struvite. Struvite produced at 24 plants in the European union were analyzed to assess their quality, some of which were digestates from livestock wastewater/agricultural waste streams. (Muys et al., 2021). However, there have been pilot plants studying the production of Struvite from animal manure and digestates. De Vrieze et al. (2019), while assessing the resource recovery from pig manure saw that using anaerobic digestion and/or nutrient recovery via struvite yielded in benefits but at the same time increased the operating costs and capital expenditure when compared to technologies like composting. Further research should be done to explore the various solutions to integrate both of them at a reasonable cost to maximize benefits.

In another study done by Song et al. (2011), they created a pilot scale crystallization reactor to produce struvite from anaerobically digested swine wastewater.; This case is interesting as struvite is produced without addition of any chemicals- which is generally done in almost all studies. Using these reactors, 85% P removal and recovery was achieved with a struvite purity of more than 90 %. (Romero-Güiza et al., 2015) coupled anaerobic digestion and struvite crystallization in the same reactor, showing a decrease in ammonia concentration in all cases of Mg salts used. At the same time, it also seemed that certain Mg salts seem to reduce the bio-methane potential of the pig

manure. Kwon et al. (2018) added sewage sludge ash to the anaerobic digestate of swine wastewater to remove both ammonia and phosphorus leading to a removal of more than 90% of both N and P.

ManureEcoMine a pilot installation in a study by Pintucci et al. (2017), showed that digestion of swine manure and vegetable residues lead to increase in gas production due to recirculation of digestate but allowed for about 83 % phosphorus removal showing that this can provide for fertilizers that are refined and concentrated. Hidalgo et al. (2016) compared the usage of either ammonia stripping or struvite crystallization with anaerobic digestion; and found that not only struvite removes both N and P, but also it is slightly more economical than ammonia stripping.

Cerrillo et al. (2015) also studied the integration of anaerobic digestion with struvite production and found that P availability in struvite is similar to that of ammonium phosphate fertilizers, hence showing that struvite is a good way to recover nutrient of AD of manure. A plant in USA treats 50.82 m³/day of swine waste (from approximately 40,000 pigs) for a period of 20 years by combining anaerobic digestion and struvite precipitation (Amini, 2014; Amini et al., 2017).

Another medium pilot plant in Spain treats 274 tons/day of pig and cow manure with the end products being struvite and activated sludge (Pedizzi et al., 2018). A LiveWaste treatment plant by Lijo et al. (2018), treats 1 ton of livestock waste which combines many processes such as anaerobic digestion, solid/liquid separation, CHP and struvite precipitation. Overall, seeing that there are many pilot plants operating that manage manure and extract maximum value-based products from them; the integration of AD with Struvite production is a process well worth for valorizing manure.

The Tables 1 and 2, the phrase "subjected to AD" shows that the manure has been used for anaerobic digestion and the resulting digestate was used for struvite crystallization. As part of it, other related data such as HRT/SRT, temperature have been included wherever it was available the relevant details pertain to the conditions used for struvite production. As seen from both the tables, many studies have used anaerobic digestion and struvite crystallization together to maximize nutrient recovery.

2.6.2. K-struvite studies

Potassium is another necessary element crucial to a crop growth and is considered as the most limited macronutrient in the soil (Fernández-Lozano et al., 1999; Tarrago et al., 2016). K-Struvite is the compound formed when ammonium ions are replaced with potassium ions (Tansel et al., 2018). This leads to both removal of K and P from the substrate. This presence of potassium in the struvite ensures growth of the crops. While struvite and K-struvite are similar in nature, K-struvite needs a higher pH (around 9–11) in order to be precipitated (Xu et al., 2015).

Most studies focus on recovering struvite and find that K-struvite is also formed as a byproduct as discussed in Bao et al. (2011), and Zeng & Li (2006). This is due to high K content in pig wastewater and dairy manure water; hence co-precipitation of struvite and K-struvite might occur (Huang et al., 2011). However, care should be taken on using the right amount of dosage of K ions, as overdosing would have an adverse effect on struvite crystallization and even promote the formation of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ (Hao et al., 2013).

Few studies focused on only producing K-struvite. For example, Tarrago et al. (2018), showed that the best operating conditions were at pH 10 and 38 °C giving about 80 % P recovery from digested manure. While a small percentage of K-struvite is formed naturally during the process, not much attention has been given to produce it exclusively. Doing this will prevent the usage of a separate

fertilizer to provide potassium for the crops. However, only producing K-struvite means there is a lack of N in the product, which can be handled by optimizing the process to produce suitable amounts of struvite and K-struvite. Furthermore, since struvite is used more as a phosphorus fertilizer than nitrogen, external nitrogen is added with struvite to ensure the proper growth of the crop. Further research is recommended to check the feasibility of producing only K-struvite from agricultural waste streams.

2.6.3. Pathogen and heavy metal removal

Apart from the production, one has to take into consideration the quality of the struvite. One way to assess its suitability as a fertilizer is to check for pathogens and heavy metals. The presence of pathogen also determines the usability of the crystals. An absence of fecal coliforms (FC) and *Salmonella* sp, helminth eggs (HE) as well as reduced levels of heavy metal content was observed in the digestates implying that it is suitable for the production of struvite crystals (Parra-Orobio et al., 2021). In a study done by Muhmood et al. (2018), struvite crystals produced from chicken slurry showed a reduction in total coliforms and E.Coli. Furthermore, the solid product was tested and shown to have no pathogens, deeming it usable as a fertilizer. Jiang et al. (2016a) found that mixing both struvite and dicyandiamide resulted in a mixture which was phytotoxin free. Also, pH is more effective in removing heavy metals than magnesium (Huang et al., 2019).

Wang et al. (2022) found that antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) and Class 1 Integron-Integrase gene (intI1 gene) exist in manure treated soils; where planting crops could decrease the quantity of certain gene groups and could increase the risk of them entering the human body. In a study done by Muys et al. (2021) showed that the heavy metal concentration is well below the standard limit sometimes even below the detection limit. The same study showed that pathogens and micro-organisms are present in low quantities. Chen et al. (2017) found that application of struvite

increased both the abundance and diversity of ARG's in the soil, rhizosphere and phyllosphere. Cai et al. (2020) also found that tetracyclines and ARG's were higher in the swine wastewater than the synthetic wastewater.

Further, there have been studies concerning the presence of antibiotics and the effect struvite has on the soil microbial community. A study by Huang et al. (2021) shows that tetracyclines, and typical antibiotics were transported via adsorption of the struvite crystals from the swine wastewater. Bastida et al. (2019) found that actinobacterial populations and *Verrucomicrobia* in the soil were impacted by the struvite application. Latifian et al. (2012) found that the salt index and heavy metal content of struvite was lower than the commercial fertilizers.

Perera et al. (2009) showed that using a stainless-steel digester enhances the purity of struvite (96 % free of heavy metals) from swine waste digestate as copper or zinc ions present in the digestate did not precipitate during the process. These show that struvite is a good choice as a use of fertilizer due to low content of pathogens and heavy metals. Further research should be done for other agricultural wastes and optimize the process for maximum removal of pathogens and micro-organisms and to reduce the presence of antibiotics.

2.6.4. Emissions study

Another aspect that is detrimental to the environment and human health is the emission of harmful gases that occur when exposing animal manure to the open air or before/after a process. Fertilizers play their role in GHG emissions- the global average emission from a P fertilizer usage is 1.36 kg CO_2 eq. kg⁻¹ of P₂O₅ (Kool et al., 2012). Huge quantities of P fertilizers are used to ensure high food production. Using struvite as an alternative can cut down these emissions (Rahman et al., 2011) and promote more sustainable use of fertilizers.

In a study by De Vries et al. (2016) shows a reduction of $-0.35 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{ eq. kg}^{-1}$ of struvite. The value may not be as high, but nevertheless it cuts down the GHG emissions. Another study done by Jiang et al. (2016b), showed that there was a 50–82 % decrease in loss of ammonia gas by subjecting pig manure to struvite production. 45–53 % NH₃ loss was seen when producing struvite during composting of pig manure (Jiang et al., 2016a).

The study done by Zhang & Lau (2007) shows that by producing struvite from poultry manure a reduction of around 40–84 % of ammonia was achieved. According to that study the variation of molar ratios impacts the amount of ammonia removed. Struvite has the capability of reducing most nitrogen-based emissions except for N₂O and reduced around 51 % of the emissions (Fukumoto et al., 2011). A study by Wang et al. (2013) showed that N loss decreased from 40.8 % to 23.3 % when struvite was formed from food waste compost. Struvite clearly shows the potential of reducing GHG emissions, leaching and volatilization when applied as a fertilizer. Further research is recommended to ascertain the possibility and to optimize the struvite production process to reduce such emissions in other conditions and wastes.

2.6.5. Effect on crop production

The main application of struvite is its use as a fertilizer. To check its feasibility, struvite should be evaluated to see whether it as effective as the commercially used phosphate fertilizers for crop growth. Also using struvite has benefits and savings that are more sustainable than using conventional phosphate fertilizers (Talboys et al., 2016). However, being a slow-release fertilizer, care must be taken that the release meets the plants requirement of phosphorus to prevent insufficient supply that can slow the plant growth (Rech et al., 2018; Do Nascimento et al., 2018). According to a study by Szymanska et al. (2020), applying struvite resulted in a higher crop yield

when compared to ammonium phosphate over the course of 2 years and the study recommended

an application of struvite every 2 years. Thisssen Martens et al. (2022) showed that when struvite is applied, maximum benefits in yield and phosphorus accumulation was the greatest in the second year due to its residual levels of struvite from the previous year.

Another study by Yetilmezsoy et al. (2013), grew 4 types of medicinal plants, adding struvite from poultry manure digestate as a fertilizer and found that the application increased the fresh weights, dry weights, and heights of the plants. In addition, it was learnt that when these were used as a feed material for the guppy fish, they did not cause any acute toxicity symptoms or mortality. Arcas-Pilz et al. (2022), used struvite in hydroponic production of lettuce and pepper and found that it sustained the growth of both short- and long-term crop and reduced environmental impacts when compared to conventional mineral fertilizers. Luo et al. (2019) treated corn with a mixture of fermented superphosphate/MAP and saw that it gave a higher fertilizer efficiency and biomass yield than that of superphosphate, concluding that fermented superphosphate/MAP was a high grade fertilizer. Yetilmezsoy et al. (2018) also grew 9 medicinal plants and saw increases in total fresh weights, total dry weights, and fresh heights of plants in soils treated with struvite. Higher yield of ley was seen in the soil treated with struvite having a low concentration of manure (Rittl et al., 2019). On the other hand, few studies have talked about the nitrogen dynamics in struvite.

For example, Robles-Aguilar et al. (2020), found that ammonium present in the struvite had an impact on the growth of Lupine as compared to that grown with no fertilizer. Overall, struvite can be used as a fertilizer for crops as it gives a similar output as commonly found with the use of mineral fertilizers. While studies have been done on the leaching of struvite in soils (Rahman et al., 2011; Ahmed et al., 2018; Gomez-Suarez et al., 2020), more research could be done to understand the dynamics of the reactions to better utilize struvite as a fertilizer.

2.6.6. Economic aspect of production

Cost benefit analysis and life cycle analysis (LCA) integration is a key part to get a quality product while ensuring sustainability. Various studies have been done either to demonstrate a cost-benefit analysis or a LCA to check the feasibility of producing struvite. One of the major costs is the use of pure reagents in the process; In order to cut down the costs various low cost conventional or otherwise sources of magnesium have been studied (Siciliano et al., 2020). Various studies have shown that using such alternative Mg sources have considerably cut down costs leading to more profit. In the experiments conducted by Uludag-Demirer et al. (2005), it was found that the initial pH adjustment was unnecessary as there was no significant differences in the percentage of removal of nutrients; therefore, usage of NaOH can be excluded which results in cost reduction.

A study done by Yetilmezsoy et al. (2017), showed that a struvite production facility with a recovery rate of 98.7 % NH4⁺-N has 6-year payback period if the product is sold at 560 Euros/ton. This can come across as reasonable but is highly dependent on the market prices, type of substrate used, and quantity being produced. Since LCA and cost benefit analysis are variable, it is hard to come with an optimal solution that can be beneficial no matter what the type of waste used for struvite production.

Although struvite recovery reduces the impact of nutrients on the ecosystem, it has its own downsides. struvite has very unclear characteristics when compared to other fertilizers. In one of the studies on struvite recovered from dairy manure, it was found that for every 1 kg of struvite recovered, it had 0.156 kg of Nitrogen (nitrogen fertilizer) and 0.583 kg of Phosphate (phosphate fertilizer) (Temizel-Sekeryan et al., 2021).

Another downside is its high investment cost coupled with uncertain ROI (Return on Investment). Developing methods with reduced operational and maintenance costs will prove useful for investors to carry forward with the processes. Struvite is also subjected to various regulations as recovery from WWTP's come under "Waste Management" leading to enormous time consumption while regular fertilizers (e.g., phosphate rock) do not have to go through all these processes of getting approvals when it comes to trade (de Boer et al., 2018). However, a study done by Yetilmezsoy et al. (2022), showed that even though struvite sales form the lowest percentage in the revenue section, the process of producing struvite reduces the pollutants from the wastewater and can be sold at 1041.30 Euros/ton to gain a net profit.

A "Multi-Waste Plant" concept introduced by Hildago et al. (2019) describes a circular economic model where integrated co-digestion of manures and other wastes to produce valuable by products and at the same time make it economically feasible. Min & Park (2021) projected struvite sales at 103% of the operating cost when coupled with use and sale of zeolite. Saerens et al. (2021) did a LCA on struvite and found economic outcome to be positive in a realistic scenario.

The overall production cost in struvite recovery is through the cost of magnesium source as it constitutes almost 75 % of the total production cost (Dockhorn, 2009). Chimenos et al. (2006) found that using a low grade MgO has major economical and practical benefits, though it has to be supplied 3–4 times the normal amount. Having a source of seawater close to the treatment unit would bring in some savings, without which its feasibility would be questionable (Molinos-Senante et al., 2011). While studies are there to generate alternative methods to cut down costs, a general guideline can be helpful to commercialize this process.

2.7 Conclusion

The paper aims to give an understanding of struvite production from animal manure for its final use as an alternative fertilizer. Mainly commercialized for wastewater, further research should be done to encourage the scale-up of struvite production from manure, given its untapped potential. In this way, one can implement the circular economic model on farms to reduce dependence of chemical fertilizers and be more sustainable in the long run. Apart from benefiting farms, the nutrient recovery process helps to mitigate environmental problems and also ensures the safety of the food produced. Even though it has its own set of barriers in implementation like cost, technical feasibility, regulations on trade and transport, questionable aspects of safety and composition – These problems can be dealt with through planning and a deeper understanding of struvite. On the whole, the advantage of struvite is commendable to be used as a fertilizer. However, further research has be done to encourage its use on a larger scale.

CHAPTER II-III CONNECTING STATEMENT

Chapter II elaborated on the underutilized potential of using livestock waste streams, including anaerobic digestates for struvite production. With this insight, Chapter III will comprise the first stage of struvite experiments that aim to develop the conditions for maximizing recovery. This chapter will also investigate the recovery potential of N using various anaerobic digestates and other aspects of interest in struvite production.

CHAPTER III

Sustainable Recovery of Nutrients from Anaerobic Digestates via Struvite Precipitation

3.1 Abstract

Environmental problems from excessive application of either manure or digestate are a key concern to tackle when it comes to agricultural sustainability. The main drawbacks include extended storage times, which leads to the release of greenhouse gases (GHG), contamination of soil health and groundwater quality that could eventually harm human health. To overcome these problems, struvite precipitation, a chemical precipitation method, is considered to further manage waste due to its characteristics such as high purity, ease of usage and production. As a compound that was thought to be a hindrance to wastewater treatment plants (WWTP's) operation, its efficacy as a fertilizer was just recently rediscovered. To face the problems caused by fertilizer usage in the agricultural sector, especially of N and P (e.g., eutrophication); struvite being a Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate (MAP) compound, can provide both nutrients in a sizable amount. While its precipitation has been studied for a given particular waste, not many have focused on digestates obtained from mono-digestion of poultry manure and co-digestion of multi-wastes. In this paper, we focused on creating a protocol and testing its efficiency in recovering nitrogen using 3 different phosphorus salts: phosphoric acid, sodium phosphate and potassium phosphate, namely 1.5 Mg/P ratio, pH 9, 240 rpm were found to be optimal for production, leading to ≥95% N recovery respectively for D1 co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures), D2 (mono-digestion of poultry manure) and D3 (co-digestion of dairy, swine manure and corn silage). Furthermore, an overall average of 61.5% reduction in VFA was observed across the digestates plus producing struvite in the range 0.33-1 g/ 10 ml of digestate used. While the type of phosphorus salts used depends on

the circumstance, for ease of utilization either sodium or potassium phosphate is recommended to be used. This process is very suitable for anaerobic digestates of various characteristics, and future focus can be initiated on the integration of this process with AD and safety assessment of the crystals for crop growth to encourage circular economic practices.

Keywords: Anaerobic digestates, co-digestion, nutrient recovery, struvite precipitation,

3.2 Introduction

Presently, the heightened scrutiny on the status of the environment is encouraging development of sustainable methods to tackle various problems faced in the agricultural sector. One of the major goals of sustainable agriculture is to search for cost-effective methods of manure managementwith a focus on production of stable green fertilizers from organic waste streams (McCrakin et al., 2018). This is because the dependence on the application of animal manures as fertilizer in farmlands has created an uneven distribution of nutrient accumulation and deficiency in the lands causing environmental problems (Buckwell et al., 2016). Digestates also follow the same pattern, where accumulation of digestate in one area would lead to deficiency in another requiring transport to places in need (Rehl & Muller, 2011). In addition, digestates do cause environmental concerns, such as GHG emissions during storage, pollutants (heavy metals, pathogens) causing soil contamination with subsequent human food contamination (Sambusiti et al., 2013; Bonetta et al., 2014; Monlau et al., 2015).

While many alternatives exist, struvite is one such green fertilizer that is being studied. Struvite is an equimolar Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate (MAP) compound. Originally, its deposit was considered as an inconvenience in pipes and tanks of wastewater treatment plants (WWTP's) which in turn decreased system efficiency while increasing maintenance costs (Jaffer et al., 2002). However, its potential as a fertilizer especially for phosphorus has significantly gained interest (Muhmood et al., 2019) due to its composition as reported by 10% magnesium, 7% ammonium, 39% phosphate and 44% crystal water by mass (Gell et al., 2011). It should also be noted that struvite has a considerable amount of Mg and N, making it an effective source for both nutrients as well (Omidire et al., 2023). This is important as Mg, N and P are important nutrients for plant growth (Li & Zhao, 2003); agriculture depends on a steady supply of nutrients such as N and P (Dawson et al., 2011). As seen from this, struvite can replace fertilizers that depend on phosphate rock as its raw source (Rahman et al., 2014) thus furthering sustainable actions of recycling N and P. In addition, struvite crystals have many advantages- odorless, granular, easy to handle, concentrated (Bouropoulos & Koutsoukos, 2000), high purity of crystals and P content, plus ease of production (De-Bashan & Bashan, 2004).

Furthermore, struvite as nutrient recovery method was initially focused upon using waste waters (Munch et al., 2001). However, given its versatility, studies are being done to a variety of wastes such as industrial wastewater, manure, and livestock slurries (Huygens et al., 2019). Struvite in these instances has shown immense potential but remains underutilized in livestock and agricultural wastes, even less when its anaerobic digestates from co-digestion and high ammonia digestates as seen from the Tables 1 and 2 in Nagarajan et al. (2023). The process, type and amount of chemical used plus the waste source can affect the composition of struvite (Antonini et al., 2012). The nature of the digestates makes it perplexing to find a given set of conditions that would yield good production over a wide range of digestates.

Hence, the objective of this paper is to ascertain struvite production in various types of digestates by using a set of pre-determined conditions. In addition, to compare differences, if any, in using a variety of phosphorus salts to produce the crystals. The end goal being to show the high potential of recovery via struvite production from anaerobically digested livestock wastes to promote its viability as a suitable fertilizer source that aids in sustainability.

3.3 Methods and Experimental Set-Up

3.3.1 Digestate collection

The anaerobic digestates were collected from 3 different digesters (In continuous operation) at AAFC, Sherbrooke Research and Development Centre with different compositions and was stored at 4°C for further physiochemical characterization as shown in Table 3.1. The compositions of the digestates are D1 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures), D2 (mono-digestion of poultry manure) and D3 (co-digestion of dairy, swine manure and corn silage).

Characteristics	D1 (Dairy Manure+	D2 (Poultry	D3 (Dairy	
	Poultry Manure+	Manure)	Manure + Swine	
	Swine Manure)		Manure+ Corn	
			Silage)	
pН	7.37	7.72	7.15	
Alkalinity (mg CaCO ₃ /L)	12336.0	19353.0	6763.0	
TAN (mg/L)	2608.0	4168.0	1198.0	
TKN (mg/L)	3373.0	4806.0	2467.0	
COD Total (mg/L)	23862.0	15443.0	46393.0	
COD Soluble (mg/L)	5897.0	11786.0	913.0	
% Total Solids (TS)	2.3853	1.9605	3.7173	
% Volatile Solids (VS)	1.3217	0.7790	2.7918	
% Free Solids (FS)	1.0636	1.1816	0.9255	
VFA (mg/L)	2474.0	2039.0	150.0	
Acetic C2	1756.3	191.7	113.9	
Propionic C3	614.9	1720.6	11.7	
Isobutyric	21.2	12.0	11.8	

Table 3-1. Characteristics of the various digestates used for struvite precipitation.

Butyric C4	9.7	0.0	2.7
Isovaleric	57.4	104.6	0.0
Valeric C5	5.6	0.0	0.0
Caproic C6	8.7	9.8	9.5

3.3.2 Experimental set-up

3 sets of trials were done with each sample done in quadruplicate split as 2 experiments to ensure replicability. All the experiments were done at room temperature and used 30 mL of anaerobic digestate. To supplement the reaction, magnesium and phosphorus salts were added in a ratio of 3:2 (Mg:P) i.e., 1.5 Mg/P - where 1M MgCl₂ (constant throughout the trials) and 1M for KH₂PO₄, Na₂HPO₄ and H₃PO₄ were added respectively to the 30 mL of digestate. Furthermore, all experiments were stabilized at pH 9.0 and 1M of NaOH and 1M HCl were used as required to adjust the pH. Mixing was done using a magnetic stirrer at 240 rpm and pH was measured using a pH meter. Mixing was done for a further 3 minutes after pH stabilization to ensure complete mixing. After this, the samples were left overnight for the precipitate to settle completely. It was then vacuum filtered, and the resulting residue kept in the oven at 105°C overnight then taken out. Both the filtrate and the powder were then analyzed accordingly.

3.3.3 Methods for digestate characterization

Standard APHA protocols (Eaton et al., 2005) were used to analyze the Total and Volatile Solids. pH (measure of acidic/basic nature) and alkalinity (acid neutralization capacity) were measured using Mettler Toledo AG 8603 pH, SevenMulti (Schwerzenbach, Switzerland) and Titralab AT1000 Series (Hach Lagne Sarl,Hach, Switzerland). TAN (amount of ammonia/ammonium) and TKN (total amount of nitrogen present) were determined by macro-Kjeldahl methods (Eaton et al., 2005) using the 2460 Kjeltec Auto-Sampler System (FOSS, Sweden). VFA was prepared according to the protocol given by Massé et al. (2003) then analyzed using Perkin Elmer gas chromatograph (Model Clarus 580, Perkin Elmer, Shelton, CT, USA). Closed reflux colorimetric method was used to determine CODs (Eaton et al., 2005).

3.3.4 Validation of chosen parameters: optimal Mg/P ratio, pH and mixing rate for struvite production

While struvite can be produced in a 1:1:1 ratio but it is difficult to put them into practice due to the nature of the wastes (Zhang et al., 2009). For example, Perera et al. (2007) produced struvite using a 1:1:1 ration but only recovered 71% of nitrogen. Using the extensive review done by Nagarajan et al. (2023), the appropriate parameters with the optimal values of 1.5 Mg/P, pH 9, and 240 rpm were established and were found to be suitable for treating the digestates. As amounts of Mg and P are quite lower compared to N in manures (Muhmood et al., 2019); salts of Mg and P must be supplemented for formation of struvite and removal of N (Siciliano et al., 2020); which lowers the risk of eutrophication and N₂O formation. Discussion is still ongoing as to whether increase in Mg or P concentration (salt) increases the % N recovered (Zhou & Wu, 2012; Li et al., 2012; Siciliano et al., 2013) though it is recommended to dose a Mg/P ratio above stoichiometric values (Kim et al., 2016); as such a median ratio was taken, 1.5 Mg/P in this case to prevent overdosing. pH 9 is considered as the optimal pH for struvite precipitation which reduces ammonia production thus ensuring struvite formation (Doyle et al., 2002). A stirring rate of 240 rpm was chosen to not affect crystal growth and showed positive results in struvite formation (Liu et al., 2014). Hence, the parameters used for this study gave a good % N recovery as discussed in the sub-section below.

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Nitrogen recovery from various phosphorus salts.

One of the key elements present in struvite and required by plants is nitrogen. Hence, its recovery is as important as phosphorus. As seen from Figure 3.1, there is a very high recovery of N, about \geq 95% across all the 3 types of digestates, no matter the type of phosphorus salt used. However, there were very slight differences observed in the % N recovery when various phosphate salts were used.



Figure 3.1. % Nitrogen recovery from digestates using various phosphorus salts

The recovery of nitrogen (N) across the salts for a digestate was slightly higher in D1 than D3 and D2 based on the assumption that all N was precipitated as struvite. Overall, it can be noticed that co-digested wastes (D1 and D3) have better % N recovery than D2 (mono-digestate). This can also be attributed to the high TAN value of D2 which could mean that the Mg/P ratio was not sufficient to recover all the N; however, this is not fully the case as there is 98% recovery using sodium

phosphate. The average recovery of D2 using phosphoric acid is less than the 97% reported by Yilmazel & Demirer (2011) and occurs due to manure characteristics and operating conditions of the digesters. In potassium phosphate, D1 gave the highest recovery of 99% with the lowest being 96% of D2. However, with potassium phosphate there is a chance of K-struvite formation- whose physio-chemical characteristics are similar to struvite (Graeser et al., 2008), wherein the NH₄⁺ ion is replaced by K⁺ ion. Even though K⁺ can elevate the thermodynamic driving force, overdosing can lead to K- struvite precipitation (Hao et al., 2013) which can be the reason for the marginally lower values for D2 and D3.

The % N recovery can probably be said to depend on the volume of base/acid required to raise it to pH 9. The strength of phosphoric acid required more volume of base to bring the mixture to pH 9, which perhaps led to its lower % N recovery; Nevertheless, there was still recovery of 95% and above in all 3 salts. Following this reasoning, sodium phosphate on the other hand already contains Na⁺ ions that can aid in raising pH, thus requiring less volume of acid/base. This could explain the high recoveries seen in D1, D2 and D3, followed by potassium phosphate (as it also contains K⁺ ions which are basic in nature). While the reasoning stands, it can be noted that in D3 both phosphoric acid and sodium phosphate gave a recovery of 96% which can be attributed to the process conditions employed. The more wastes are co-digested together, the higher the value of recovery as there is more nutrient availability. The lower recovery values in D3 which comprises of dairy manure can be said to be caused by Ca²⁺ inhibition reported in earlier studies (Koutsoukos et al., 2003; Le Corre et al., 2005; Tao et al., 2016) which must have been neutralized to a certain degree in the case of D1.

Moreover, studies prefer the use of either sodium phosphate or potassium phosphate (Nagarajan et al., 2023) and while phosphoric acid might seem to be convenient due to its lower cost (Yilmazel

& Demirer, 2013) from Figure 3.1 the % N recovery is higher in potassium and sodium phosphate making them more viable to be used than phosphoric acid. To reduce the usage of base to raise pH, it would be suitable to use sodium phosphate and potassium phosphate where the latter also gives the added plausible benefit of K-struvite production, which provides potassium, an element that is also important for crops (Hidayat & Harada, 2021). As Na is not a principal element for crop growth there is less focus on its formation, though there are studies that have studied its growth as seen in Chauhan & Joshi, (2014).

3.4.2 Mass of struvite produced

The weights of the produced struvite did have some variation across the digestates like % N recovery. It can be said that there is a slight positive co-relation between the %N recovery and the mass produced as seen in Figure 3.2.

In the case of D1, like its %N recovery, there is a very high stability of mass produced for all the 3 salts- producing approximately 0.67 g/10 ml (approx.1 g/10 ml). For both D2 and D3, the struvite mass produced was low using phosphoric acid, yielding 0.33 g/10 ml and 0.67 g/ml respectively. However, D2 gave the same value as D1, 0.67 g/mol for the other 2 salts. D3, despite having a lower % N recovery as compared to D1, produced the highest mass in both sodium and potassium phosphate, yielding about 1g /10 ml of digestate. The range of mass observed ranged from 0.33 g/10mL to 1 g/10 mL is within acceptable limits when substantiated with the fact that 0.32 g/10mL to 1.71g/10 mL was achieved despite using different operating conditions (Suzuki et al., 2007).



Figure 3.2. Weight of produced struvite crystals from digestates using various phosphorus salts

However, as organic matter (OM) also tends to precipitate along with the struvite crystals (the crystals agglomerates with OM), it is hard to ascertain the amount of either OM, struvite crystals, secondary compounds due to agglomeration of the crystals and as such, the mass produced is taken as the amount of struvite crystals precipitated. The high struvite mass of D3 could be assumed due to its high OM presence compared to the other 2 digestates. Studies report that OM has a negative effect on the struvite formation, but it plays a part in morphology of the crystals (Cerrillo et al., 2015; Capdevielle et al., 2016) and its attachment to the crystals can be verified under SEM (Wang et al., 2022). Moreover, like recovery of N, values are better when using either sodium or potassium phosphate. This further verifies their usage as the P source for struvite precipitation.

3.4.3 VFA reduction

It is also interesting to note that the precipitation process can cause a reduction in VFA's. The decrease depended on the characteristics of the waste and despite the complex chemical reactions (beyond current scope) inducing this reduction, it nevertheless follows the pattern as shown in

Figure 3.3. During AD process, VFA is consumed, but tends to form complexes with Ca and Mg at high values inhibiting P precipitation (Van Rensburg et al., 2003). The continuous operating nature of the digesters attributed to high VFA's of the raw digestate; but the high % N recovery suggests that if there was any inhibition due to other ions, if it was not discernable to affect the precipitation (as extra P was added to facilitate the reaction).



Figure 3.3. Total VFA reduction by precipitating struvite in digestates using various phosphorus salts

However, raw VFA's is approximately 2056 ± 418 mg/L for D1 and 1761 ± 278 mg/L for D2. As per Figure 3.3, one can infer that the precipitation process can lower the VFA's to <1000 mg/L for D1 and D2 regardless of the phosphorus compound used. Furthermore, the variations in the values could be due to the waste's inherent properties. The current operating conditions of the digester producing D3 is the reason behind its low raw VFA and hence its values show the recurring trend of reduction in VFA even if the values are negligible. It can be gleaned that there is no significant difference in the final VFA's value when using any phosphorus salts. For example, it has been shown that C2 does not affect the kinetics of struvite precipitation in synthetic wastewater, but it

may just require more base to raise to the required pH (Zhang et al., 2021); while a similarity is seen in this case as per the % N recovery, it is difficult to deduce the reduction and kinetics of struvite in this instance due to convoluted nature of the reactions.

VFA's are known for their strong odor due to their fermentation (Reyhanitash et al., 2017) and the VFA reduction could prevent it from fermenting, which could be the reason for the lack of odor, even though OM is precipitated in it. There was a cumulative reduction of VFA by about 62% for D1 and D2 and by 61% for D3. These values are not high as compared to %N recovery but nevertheless substantial. In terms of the salts' efficacy, in this case, it can be concluded that phosphoric acid achieves a slightly better VFA reduction than either sodium phosphate or potassium phosphate.

3.5 Conclusion

From this study, mono-digestion of poultry waste and co-digestion of multiple agricultural wastes have great potential to be used in struvite precipitation. The chosen conditions of 1.5 Mg/P and pH 9, 240 rpm yielded a high recovery of nitrogen across the different P salts used. While the difference in %N recovery using the various phosphorus salts was marginal, there was a slight difference in the mass of crystals produced and a reduction of the VFA's. The highest N recovery of 99% was achieved with potassium phosphate for D1 while D3 produced the highest mass of 1 g/10 ml of digestate. The recommended P salts are sodium phosphate and potassium phosphate; wherein the latter case can give an added benefit of producing K-struvite. While the results of struvite precipitation highly depend on the waste characteristics and the conditions used, it can be said that it is one of the most sustainable nutrient recoveries methods available. However, a need to upscale the process for manures leads to further scope in assessing the produced struvite safety and practically by studying its pathogenic level, heavy metal quantities and life cycle analysis.

CHAPTER III-IV CONNECTING STATEMENT

Chapter III validated the ability of the process to further valorize the nutrients and matter present in anaerobic digestates. It also depicted its characteristics for N recovery and produced a substantial mass of crystals. The basis of chapter III sets the tone for the experimentation done in chapter IV to ensure the process replicability and to show the benefits of integrating AD alongside struvite precipitation.

CHAPTER IV

Integration of Anaerobic Digestion with Struvite Precipitation to Circularity in Manure Management.

4.1 Abstract

With the focus shifting towards circular principles, the same can be applied to manure management. One of the major ways to treat manure is through anaerobic digestion (AD). This method produces energy in the form of biogas and the resultant digestate is commonly applied as an organic fertilizer to farmlands. On the other hand, the misuse of the digestate application can lead to problems like greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, soil contamination, eutrophication, which is detrimental to the environment. In fact, the digestate is still nutrient rich, further valorization can be done to recover nutrient in dry and easily transportable forms and also to maximize energy. In this regard, struvite is heralded as a potential green fertilizer as it is a magnesium ammonium phosphate (MAP) compound (containing 2 prime nutrients required for plant growth). Struvite provides significant control over land application, unlike the application of raw manure or digestate in terms of quality and quantity. This chemical precipitation process can be integrated with AD to increase benefits as well as give useful by-products with practical applications. As such, this study focuses on a representative cycle of high solids anaerobic digester (HSAD) of 2 mixtures of co-digested wastes, whose cycle length was 77 days, highest specific methane yield (SMY) being 1.26 L/g COD_{s fed} for D1(Poultry Manure, Dairy Manure and Corn Silage) and 1.49 L/g COD_{s fed} for D2 (Chicken Manure, Dairy Manure, Swine Manure and Corn Silage). The maximum cumulative biogas produced was 374 L and 369 L for D1, D2 respectively. The digesters were found to give favorable results and could adapt to the increase in feedstock. The struvite produced from D3 (Mixture of all D1 and D2 digestates at the end of the cycle) resulted in very

high recovery of N 98-99% with mass of 0.67 g/10 ml. It is recommended to use either potassium or sodium phosphate for this process. Overall, this integration yields very high advantages with practical application and studies can be furthered to scale-up the process to make it more viable.

Keywords: Anaerobic digestion, high solids anaerobic digester, integration, nutrient recovery, struvite precipitation.

4.2 Introduction

Part of sustainable development is to improve the viability of closed nutrient recovery systems in the agricultural sector -due to population growth leading to more wastage, fertilizers requirements due to rising food demands (Pigoli et al., 2021). This in turn is placing a burden on biogeochemical cycles, especially of N and P and by appropriate distribution (through assessment and requirement) of said nutrients can reduce the pressure on these cycles (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015).

Anaerobic digestion efficiently converts organic wastes into valuable resources (Yu and Huang, 2009); reducing wastes going to the landfills, water pollution and GHG emissions while furthering economy (Dennehy et al., 2016). From manure, agricultural waste streams, AD is commonly employed to treat the wastes producing biogas, a renewable energy; and by integrating AD and nutrient recovery, both energy and nutrients can be recovered (Lorick, 2020). The digestate produced during the process has good fertilizer properties as it is made up of water, biomass, inert and undigested solids (Di Costanzo et al., 2021). Furthermore, the utilization of high solids anaerobic digester (HSAD) generates nutrient rich digestate that can be used for agricultural applications (Pigoli et al., 2021). The digestate will have amendable properties due to its relatively high biological stability -degree of OM degradability (Wojnowska-Baryła et al., 2018), neutralized phytotoxicity, and nutrient availability (Tambone et al., 2010).

However, digestate must have adequate storage and processing to mitigate release of air pollutants that results in nutrient loss (Lamolinara et al., 2022). Furthermore, disposal of digestate is problematic as it might contain compounds harmful to humans, organisms, and the environment (Jomova & Valko, 2011; Silkina et al., 2017). To prevent this, further valorization of the digestate from agricultural waste streams is required and struvite precipitation was one of the most viable technologies (Macura et al., 2019). Also, total ammonical nitrogen (TAN) and ortho-phosphate are more readily available due to biological degradation of organic matter during the AD process (Scaglia et al., 2018) making it a readily usable source for struvite production.

To develop a circular sustainable economy, AD of organic wastes is a major component as it addresses issues like waste, food production, energy, and nutrient cycling (Antoniou et al., 2019). Considering the high efficiency of chemical precipitation, it would be economical to integrate struvite precipitation with agricultural waste streams high in N and P (Muhmood et al., 2019). The combination of both mass and energy systems (struvite and biogas) in line with circular economic principles can diminish the use of fresh resources (raw N and P resources used to make fertilizers) and can even drastically reduce waste discharge (e.g., untreated digestate and raw manure); making the integrated system both economically and environmentally stable (Hidalgo et al., 2019).

As such, a preliminary study was done on the potential of integration by assessing the efficiency of a representative cycle of HSAD for multi substrate and then using the digestates at the end of the cycle for struvite precipitation. Moreover, the feasibility of using various phosphate salts and the mass produced were studied. Doing so, this paper aims to emphasize that maximum nutrient recovery is possible with struvite precipitation from co-digested wastes, highlighting the benefits of integrating the systems.

4.3 Methods and Experimental Set-Up

4.3.1 Raw feedstocks and digestates sampling

The raw feedstock (swine manure, poultry manure, dairy manure, and corn silage) used for the representative cycle of HSAD was collected in and around AAFC, Sherbrooke Research and Development Centre. The anaerobic digestates were collected from the HSAD digesters designed for co-digestion process at the AAFC Centre. To monitor the performance, samples were taken weekly from the liquid digester and thrice per week for biogas quality of both the solid and liquid digesters. They were all stored at 4°C for further physiochemical characterization and experimentation as shown in Table 4.1 and Table 4.2. The compositions of the raw manure used for anaerobic digestion for D1 are (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage). For struvite characterization, all the liquid digestate of the digesters at the end of the cycle were mixed, which is D3 (Mixture of all D1 and D2 digestates at the end of the cycle).

Table 4-1. Characteristics of the raw feedstock used for the HSAD

Sample Type	%TS	%VS	TAN	TKN	TVFA	CODs	Alkalinity	pН
			(mg/l)	(mg/l)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mgCaCO ₃ /L)	
Solid Inoculum	19.98	16.94	2759.00	6174.00	1033.00	12510.00	15131.00	9.01
Poultry manure	59.38	48.73	7105.00	20294.00	1263.00	81655.00	36406.00	8.99
Dairy Manure	16.53	15.26	433.00	4138.00	3287.00	20112.00	6696.00	7.30
Swine Manure	7.84	6.20	1680.00	3402.00	3766.00	10098.00	8812.00	7.10
Corn Silage	31.88	28.84	520.00	3468.00	5341.00	57156.00	0.00	3.86

Characteristics	D1 (Poultry M Manure and	Corn Silage)	Manure, Swin Corn	Manure, Dairy ne Manure and Silage)	D3 (Mixture of D1 and D2 at end of cycle)	
	Initial	Final	Initial	Final		
pН	8.59	8.40	8.49	8.43	NA	
Alkalinity (mg CaCO ₃ /L)	16501.00	20091.29	15515.15	19354.93	14605.00	
TAN (mg/L)	2968.18	3641.37	2825.82	3509.83	2716.00	
TKN (mg/L)	7733.99	6845.89	6876.45	6683.72	3234.00	
COD Total (mg/L)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
COD Soluble (mg/L)	23132.99	12695.80	20036.44	9267.88	5494.00	
% Total Solids (TS)	23.62	19.44	21.82	19.60	2.02	
% Volatile Solids (VS)	20.23	16.23	18.79	16.39	0.91	
% Free Solids (FS)	3.39	3.21	3.03	3.21	1.11	
VFA (mg/L)	1274.07	2550.18	1543.00	957.00	325.50	
Acetic, C2	677.16	1761.33	831.00	738.00	251.50	
Propionic, C3	59.76	516.61	113.00	157.00	31.00	
Isobutyric	0.00	50.90	53.00	0.00	1.90	
Butyric, C4	425.54	0.00	331.00	0.00	9.40	
Isovaleric	62.32	152.56	87.00	63.00	16.90	
Valeric, C5	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.20	
Caproic, C6	49.29	68.78	128.00	0.00	13.50	

Table 4-2. Characteristics of the wastes used for AD and of the digestate used for struvite precipitation

4.3.2. Experimental set-up

2 different kinds of feedstock mixtures D1 and D2 were digested in duplicate digesters for a representative cycle: percolation-recirculation digesters based on the design by Mahato et al. (2022) and adapted for use with mixed substrate as seen in Bele (2022). The below flowchart depicts the operation of the percolation-recirculation digester, also known as a solid-liquid digester.



Figure 4.1. The flowchart depicts the working of the percolation-recirculation digester.

For struvite, 2 sets of trials were done using D3 with each sample done in duplicate. All the experiments were done at room temperature and 30 mL of anaerobic digestate was used. To supplement the reaction, magnesium and phosphorus salts were added in a ratio 3:2 (Mg:P) i.e., 1.5 Mg/P where 1M MgCl₂ (constant throughout the trials) and 1M for KH₂PO₄, Na₂HPO₄ and H₃PO₄ were used. Furthermore, all experiments were stabilized at pH 9.0 and 1M of NaOH and 1M HCl were used to adjust the pH. Mixing was done using a magnetic stirrer at 240 rpm and pH was measured using a pH meter. Mixing was done for a further 3 minutes after pH stabilization to ensure complete mixing. The samples were left overnight for the precipitate to settle completely. It was then vacuum filtered, and the resulting residue was kept in the oven at 105°C for 4 hours, then taken out. The filtrate and the powder were then analyzed appropriately.

4.3.3. Methods for sample characterization

APHA standard protocols (Eaton et al., 2005) were used to analyze the Total and Volatile Solids. pH and alkalinity were measured using Mettler Toledo AG 8603 pH, SevenMulti (Schwerzenbach, Switzerland) and Titralab AT1000 Series (Hach Lagne Sarl,Hach, Switzerland). VFA was prepared according to the protocol given by Masse et al. (2003) then analyzed using Perkin Elmer gas chromatograph (Model Clarus 580, Perkin Elmer, Shelton, CT, USA). While the biogas quality was quantified using 490 Micro GC Biogas Analyzer (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). Closed reflux colorimetric method was used to determine COD_s (Eaton et al., 2005). TAN and TKN were determined by macro-Kjeldahl methods (Eaton et al., 2005) using the 2460 Kjeltec Auto-Sampler System (FOSS, Sweden). Biogas production in terms of volume was recorded by calibrated wet tip-tanks. Specific methane yield was calculated using the volume of methane produced per gram of COD_{s fed}.

4.4 Results and Discussion

4.4.1. Digester performance and relationship between SMY, biogas production and acid ratios (C3/C2, C4+C5/C2 and TVFA/TA)

For this representative cycle, the feedstock to inoculum ratio used was 1:7. Overall, it took 77 days to complete this cycle for both cases. The cycle length was determined based on the daily biogas production and VFA levels. The deteriorating VFA levels by the end of 77 days indicated that cycle had reached its end. The calculated OLR yielded 3.14 gVS/L.d for D1 and 3.22 gVS/L.d for D2. It should also be noted that from day 0-43, 20% of the inoculum was pumped into the HSAD and was increased by 10% from days 48-77 for both D1 and D2. The digester efficiency in terms of COD_s fed is 45% for D1 and 54% for D2. From this, it can be inferred that the swine manure added in D2 had enriched the digester with nutrients that were utilized by the methanogens.


Figure 4.2. Relationship between %CH₄ and %CO₂ for both the solid and liquid digesters for the cycles of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

The quality of methane is essential to know if the digester is functioning as intended. For both the solid and liquid digesters, initially there was a high level of CO_2 and low level of CH_4 whose values reversed by the end of the cycle (Figure 4.2). The remaining percentage can be taken as the % of H_2S as was detected by the Micro GC, the amount produced dependent on the feedstock (Wellinger et al., 2013). There is a strong negative correlation between %CO₂ and %CH₄ for both D1 and D2. The highest % CH₄ was 74.69% in liquid and 66.90% for D1 and 74.18% in liquid and 68.59% in solid for D2; showing that methane quality is better in the liquid digesters than the solid even if there was more fluctuation in the former. Even then, the methane quality is similar in D1 and D2. The common range for CH₄ is 50-75% and CO₂ are 25-45% with minor traces of H₂S (Wukovits & Schnitzhofer, 2009). Furthermore, our results indicated above, around 74% of CH₄ was produced in both D1 and D2 indicating stellar quality. The high quality produced can be attributed

to the consumption of nutrients, VFA's due to degradation of organic matter (OM) over the period, and CO₂ being utilized to form methane.



Figure 4.3. Relationship between cumulative biogas with SMY (COD_{s fed})/SMY(VS) for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

Since there is a strong positive correlation in both digesters for specific methane yield SMY (VS) and SMY ($COD_s fed$), R=1; using either SMY (VS) or SMY ($COD_s fed$) would have resulted in the same trend that is shown in Figure 4.2, so the following results are explained using SMY ($COD_s fed$). In Figure 4.3, D1, cumulative value has steadily increased while SMY ($COD_s fed$) has a gradual increase, giving a parallel curve. In D2 shows the same starting pattern as D1, with SMY ($COD_s fed$) overlapping the cumulative biogas towards the end of the cycle. The reason for this could be the 30% inoculum recirculation from day 48 onwards which influenced D2 while having no effect on D1. The increment in both SMY ($COD_s fed$) and cumulative biogas over the duration of the cycles of D1 and D2, shows that methanogenic activity was taking place at a good rate. This

indicates that the adapted inoculum was able to handle the increased substrate load and produce a satisfactory amount of biogas over this period.



Figure 4.4. Acid ratios and TVFA/TA for D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

Volatile fatty acids (VFAs) are short-chain aliphatic mono-carboxylate compounds that are made up of 2 to 6 carbon atoms (Merrylin et al., 2020). Figure 4.4 highlights the 3 main VFA ratios used to assess a digester's stability. C3/C2 was below 0.4 for both D1 and D2, which is well below the recommended <1.4 (Kwietniewska & Tys, 2014). Whereas C4+C5/C2 values for both were within the range suggested of <0.3 (Mahato et al., 2020), but on day 0, it seemed that the start-up was unstable, leading to such high values. This could be an outlier and did not seem to have an impact on the stability afterwards. A value below 0.5 is advised for TVFA/TA (Rajinikanth et al., 2008) but might cause some instability around 0.4- 0.8(Callaghan et al., 2002); D2 having good stability, and D1 falling between the margins. Nevertheless, the rise in SMY (COD_{s fed}) and cumulative biogas plus the VFA consumption and CODs decrease verify that the HSAD system was, in fact functioning without any problem, ensuring its stability.



4.4.2 Relationship between %TS, % VS, pH, alkalinity, TAN, TKN, CODs, VFA

Figure 4.5. Relationship between %TS and %VS for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

There is a similar trend of change in %TS and %VS for both D1 and D2, as seen in Figure 4.5. The notable difference being that on day 49, there is a slight decrease of both in D1, with a steep decrease of both in D2-the reason being in the increased recirculation of the inoculum. Overall, it seems there is a gentle increase and then a notable decrease as the cycle reaches its end. The values decreasing shows that the OM is being degraded to release nutrients for methanogenic activity. Since, % TS value was the same at the beginning and end of the cycles (except for the minute decrease in D1), the % VS decreased at the end increasing the resultant amount which is % free

solids (FS). This means that there is some undegraded OM left in the digestate that could have played a role in the struvite crystal mass, which is discussed in *section 4.4.3*.



Figure 4.6. Relationship between TAN and TKN for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

As seen in Figure 4.6, it is interesting to note there was a gradual increase of both TAN and TKN for both cases- as the TAN content is directly correlated to initial TKN (as its value comprises of all the nitrogen present) of the feedstock (Monlau et al., 2015) which is why the TAN for both D1 and D2 are also high. Quite interestingly, the addition of swine manure seems to unlikely have an effect, seeing that the ranges produced for both are marginal to each other. Furthermore TAN/TKN ratio was a high value of 0.85 for both, due to the presence of high degradable feedstock such swine, poultry overshadowing the less degradable feedstock such as corn silage (Möller & Müller., 2012). Also, the increase in TAN, means nutrient availability in the digester was good for the period of the whole cycle. Unlike %TS, %VS, there was no dip or rise on day 49, showing that the increased 10% inoculum recirculation rate had negligible effect on the N present in the digesters;

but TKN had a small rise between days 63-70 and sloped down in both cases. TAN and TKN at the end of the cycle for D1 and D2 were on average 2564 mg/L, 3033mg/L and 2490 mg/L, 2961 mg/L respectively. This is the key to note, as that means that there is still nitrogen that can further valorized at the end of the cycle to reduce the TAN present in the digestate (which is discussed later in *section 4.4.3*).



Figure 4.7. Relationship between pH and alkalinity for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

From Figure 4.7, it is seen that pH for the first 14 days decreased rapidly to around pH 7.40 for both, while alkalinity was gradually increasing, despite the fluctuations resulting in a dip on day 7 and day 28. After day 14, however, there was steady increase in pH until the end of the cycle to sustain the production of methane. The final pH was higher by a slight margin in D1 (pH 7.69) than in D2 (pH 7.65) and can be attributed to the characteristics of high pH of poultry manure used. Meanwhile, there was an unsteady increase in the alkalinity in the digesters even after 14 days due to acid formation and depletion. In a similar fashion, D1 had a higher alkalinity than D2.

The high alkalinity is an indication that VFA has been consumed and it acts as a buffer to prevent extreme pH fluctuation of the digester. The pH was found within the acceptable ranges (7.0-7.6) for promoting biogas production (Cecchi et al., 2005). It should be stated that struvite formation can occur from pH 7-11 (Buchanan et al., 1994), no such growth was seen as other requirements for its formation were not met.



Figure 4.8. Relationship between CODs and TVFA for the whole cycle of D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage)

Both COD_s and TVFA followed a fluctuating pattern as depicted in Figure 4.8 with strong positive correlation of R=0.97. Initially, there was an accumulation of affecting both biogas production and quality, with its final decrease showing its consumption during the cycle. In the case of D1, there was a rapid increase in both TVFA and COD_s until day 28, then a drop followed by a gradual decrease, ending with a steep decline. This could be taken as the day until which acidogenesis and

acetogenesis was occurring, resulting in high values of COD_s and TVFA. Then the decrease is occurring due to nutrient usage during methanogenesis. Meanwhile for D2, the same scenario can be ascribed. Acidogenesis and acetogenesis peak was reached at day 21, decreased due to methanogenesis and then had another peak at day 42 before declining steeply till day 77. For both COD_s and TVFA the values were higher than that of D2; COD_s being degraded shows the breakdown of OM in the manures which leads to more nutrient availability and produce VFA's for consumption to produce methane.

4.4.3. Struvite precipitation, nitrogen Recovery and crystal mass produced

The struvite analysis was done to D3, rich in TAN, yielded \geq 98% N recovery regardless of the phosphorus salt added. The % N recovery was highest with potassium phosphate with 99% with 98% for both phosphoric acid and sodium phosphate. In this case, it can be concluded that different phosphorus salts do not greatly affect the nitrogen recovery. The high TAN values at the end of the cycles seen in *section 4.3.2*, is almost completely captured in the form of struvite as indicated by the below results. The results shown in Figure 4.9 indicate that the protocol devised in Chapter III is suitable for co-digested wastes, yielding higher values than the digestates used for that experiment; it is noteworthy that the composition of the current digestate could have also played a part to yield such high values.



Figure 4.9. % N recovery and weight produced from various phosphorus salts

Interestingly, there was no variation at all with the weights. This means that regardless of the phosphorus salt used, they all produced 0.67 g/10 mL \pm 0.1 g/10 mL. With this, one can assume that the amount of OM present plays a role in the mass, leading to this similarity. However, in the case of potassium phosphate, there is no proper way to ascertain the amount of K-struvite produced. Overall, all 3 salts are suitable for this process on the notion that the mass produced consists of entirely struvite crystals. Keeping in mind the costs and feasibility in usage, potassium phosphate or sodium phosphate are recommended.

4.5 Conclusion

Anaerobic digestion integrated struvite precipitation is seen as a viable process for sustainable manure management. The HSAD proved to be stable for D1(co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures) and D2 (co-digestion of dairy, poultry, swine manures and corn silage). using multiple substrates as seen by their acid ratios (C3/C2 and C4+C5/C2) and TVFA/TA. The cycle lasted for 77 days, and methane quality produced was good around 74% for both D1 and D2. The SMY ranges were as follows: 0.002- $1.26 L/g COD_s$ fed for D1, and 0.002- $1.49 L/g COD_s$ fed for D2. The

cumulative biogas produced ranged from 15-374 L and 8- 369 L for D1 and D2, respectively. There was also a very high % N recovery of 99% using potassium phosphate and around 0.67 g/10ml produced. Studies could be further done on continuing adapting the AD for co-digestion and scaling up the integration with struvite precipitation.

CHAPTER IV-V CONNECTING STATEMENT

As one has seen from chapter IV, it is a sustainable idea to integrate anerobic digestion with struvite production. It was also seen that amount of recovery also depends on the characteristics of the waste. Nevertheless, this process ensures proper recovery of nutrients that has practical applications. Moving on to chapter V, where we summarize the research, its utilization potential, and impacts.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

This thesis has shown that struvite is a potential substitute for commercial fertilizers that promotes sustainability as a whole and in the agricultural sector. Struvite has the inherent characteristics that enable its production to be environment friendly and alleviate the harmful effects of livestock wastes.

The sheer number of livestock plus the wastes produced make it a highly viable waste source to be used for struvite production. Given the nutrients present in these wastes and given the need to find more sustainable fertilizers to promote bioeconomic practices; struvite is the optimal option for incorporating all these ideas.

These ideas were then scrutinized, especially by exploring struvite production from livestock wastes, anaerobic digestates and its clear benefits, which gave us encouragement to research further into its production using livestock waste streams.

The heart of the thesis is the experimental methodology that produced reliable results. It shows that irrespective of the digestate type being used (either from mono-digestion or co-digestion), high levels of N recovery can be obtained. There were slight differences in the % N recovered, however, the weight of crystals obtained did show variation with usage of different salts on the various digestates. VFA can also be drastically decreased. It was noted that the representative HSAD cycle of multi- substrate digestion was stable and yielded good methane volume and quality. Integrating biogas with struvite can deliver both high biogas quality while at the same time decreasing the N content present in the digestate, making the filtrate (wastewater) safe to use for other purposes after treatment.

Apart from practically scaling up this integrated process, there is further scope that can be undertaken to ensure the safety and efficacy of struvite as a fertilizer: pathogenic study, heavy metal study, plant trials, GHG emissions, and K- struvite. Other interesting studies that could be done in probable future, is % P recovery, production without chemical addition, life cycle analysis based on functioning plants and regulations on its usage. Currently studies are being done on using agricultural wastes as a source material; soon it can yield positive results and needed information to explore these topics further. Struvite process of livestock wastes is the viable option at the present.

REFERENCES

- 1. Aage, H., Andersen, B., Blom, A., & Jensen, I., (1997). The solubility of struvite. J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 223 (1e2), 213e215.
- Adnan, A., Koch, F.A., & Mavinic, D.S., (2003). Pilot-scale study of phosphorus recovery through struvite crystallization – II: applying in-reactor supersaturation ratio as a process control parameter. J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 2 (6), 473–483. https://doi.org/10.1139/s03-048.
- Ahlberg-Eliasson, K., Nadeau, E., Levén, L., & Schnürer, A., (2017). Production Efficiency of Swedish Farm-Scale Biogas Plants. Biomass and Bioenergy 97, 27–37. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.12.002
- Ahmed, N., Shim, S., Won, S., & Ra, C., (2018). Struvite recovered from various types of wastewaters: characteristics, soil leaching behaviour, and plant growth. Land Degrad. Dev. 29 (9), 2864–2879. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3010.
- 5. Al Seadi, T., & Lukehurst, C., (2012). Quality management of digestate from biogas plants used as fertiliser. IEA Bioenergy.
- 6. Amini, A., (2014). Sustainable Energy and Nutrient Recovery from Swine Waste [Master of Science]. University of South Florida.
- Amini, A., Aponte-Morales, V., Wang, M., Dilbeck, M., Lahav, O., Zhang, Q., Cunningham, J.A., & Ergas, S.J., (2017). Cost-effective treatment of swine wastes through recovery of energy and nutrients. Waste Manag. 69, 508–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.08.041.
- Antonini, S., Arias, M.A., Eichert, T., & Clemens, J., (2012). Greenhouse evaluation and environmental impact assessment of different urine-derived struvite fertilizers as phosphorus sources for plants. Chemosphere 89, 1202–1210.
- Antoniou N, Monlau F, Sambusiti C, Ficara E, Barakat A, & Zabaniotou A., (2019). Contribution to Circular Economy options of mixed agricultural wastes management: coupling anaerobic digestion with gasification for enhanced energy and material recovery. J Clean Prod;209:505–14.
- Arcas-Pilz, V., Parada, F., Rufi-Salis, M., Stringari, G., Gonz'alez, R., Villalba, G., & Gabarrell, X., (2022). Extended use and optimization of struvite in hydroponic cultivation systems. Resour., Conserv. Recycl. 179, 106130 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.106130.
- Babic-Ivancic, V., Kontrec, J., Kralj, D., & Brecevic, L., (2002). Precipitation diagrams of struvite and dissolution kinetics of dierent struvite morphologies. Croat. Chem. Acta 75, 89–106.
- Balaman, S.Y., (2019). Introduction to biomass—resources, production, harvesting, collection, and storage. Decision-Making for Biomass-Based Production Chains. Elsevier, pp. 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814278-3.00001-7.
- Bao, X.D., Ye, Z.L., Ma, J.H., Chen, S.H., Lin, L.F., & Yan, Y.J., (2011). Effect of pH on precipitate composition during phosphorus recovery as struvite from swine wastewater. Environ. Sci. 32, 2598–2603.
- 14. Bastida, F., Jehmlich, N., Martínez-Navarro, J., Bayona, V., García, C., & Moreno, J.L., (2019). The effects of struvite and sewage sludge on plant yield and the microbial

community of a semiarid Mediterranean soil. Geoderma 337, 1051–1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.10.046.

- 15. Bele, V., (2022). Low-Temperature Anaerobic Digestion of Agricultural Organic Wastes: Performance Evaluation, Influencing Factors, and Nutrient Recovery for a Circular Economy [Master of Science], Concordia University.
- Bonetta, S., Bonetta, S., Ferretti, E., Fezia, G., Gilli, G., & Carraro, E., (2014). Agricultural Reuse of the Digestate from Anaerobic Co-Digestion of Organic Waste: Microbiological Contamination, Metal Hazards and Fertilizing Performance. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 225(8), 2046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-014-2046-2
- 17. Bouropoulos, N.C., & Koutsoukos P.G., (2000). Spontaneous precipitation of struvite from aqueous solutions. Journal of Crystal Growth 213: 381- 388.
- Brown, K., Harrison, J., & Bowers, K., (2018). Struvite precipitation from anaerobically digested dairy manure. Water Air Soil Pollut. 229 (7), 217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-018-3855-5.
- Brusseau, M.L., & Artiola, J.F., (2019). Chemical contaminants. Environmental and Pollution Science. Elsevier, pp. 175–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814719-1.00012-4.
- 20. Buchanan, J.R., Mote, C.R., & Robinson, R.B., (1994). Struvite control by chemical treatment. Trans. Am. Soc. Agric.Eng., 37, 1301–1308.
- 21. Buckwell A, & Nadeu E. (2016). Nutrient Recovery and Reuse (NRR) in European agriculture: a review of the issues, opportunities, and actions. Brussels: RISE Foundation.
- Burns, R.T., Moody, L.B., Celen, I., & Buchanan, J.R., (2003). Optimization of phosphorus precipitation from swine manure slurries to enhance recovery. Water Sci. Technol. 48 (1), 139–146. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2003.0037.
- Burns, R.T., Moody, L.B., Walker, F.R., & Raman, D.R., (2001). Laboratory and In-Situ Reductions of Soluble Phosphorus in Swine Waste Slurries. Environ. Technol. 22 (11), 1273–1278. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593332208618190.
- Cai, J., Ye, Z.-L., Ye, C., Ye, X., & Chen, S., (2020). Struvite crystallization induced the discrepant transports of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in phosphorus recovery from swine wastewater. Environ. Pollut. 266, 115361 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115361.
- Callaghan, F. J., Wase, D. A. J., Thayanithy, K., & Forster, C. F., (2002). Continuous codigestion of cattle slurry with fruit and vegetable wastes and chicken manure, Biomass Bioenergy, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 71–77, Jan., doi: 10.1016/S0961-9534(01)00057-5.
- 26. Capdevielle, A., Sýkorová, E., Biscans, B., Béline, F., & Daumer, M.-L., (2013). Optimization of struvite precipitation in synthetic biologically treated swine wastewater – determination of the optimal process parameters. J. Hazard. Mater. 244–245,357–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.11.054.
- 27. Capdevielle, A., Sýkorová, E., Béline, F., & Daumer, M.-L., (2016). Effects of organic matter on crystallization of struvite in biologically treated swine wastewater. Environmental Technology, 37(7), 880–892. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2015.1088580

- Cecchi, F., Battistoni, P., Pavan, P., Bolzonella, D., & Innocenti, L., (2005). Digestione anaerobica della frazione organica dei rifiuti solidi. _Aspetti fondamentali, progettuali, gestionali, di impatto ambientale ed integrazione con la depurazione delle acque reflue. APAT–Manuali e linee guida , 13.
- Cerrillo, M., Palatsi, J., Comas, J., Vicens, J., & Bonmatí, A., (2015). Struvite precipitation as a technology to be integrated in a manure anaerobic digestion treatment plant –removal efficiency, crystal characterization and agricultural assessment. J. Chem.Technol. Biotechnol. 90 (6), 1135–1143. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4459.
- 30. Chauhan, C. K., & Joshi, M. J., (2014). Growth and characterization of struvite-Na crystals. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 401, 221 226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2014.01.052
- Chen, Q.-L., An, X.-L., Zhu, Y.-G., Su, J.-Q., Gillings, M.R., Ye, Z.-L., & Cui, L., (2017). Application of struvite alters the antibiotic resistome in soil, rhizosphere, and phyllosphere. Environ. Sci. 34.
- Cheng, W., Chen, H., Su, C., & Yan, S., (2013). Abundance and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in livestock farms: a comprehensive investigation in eastern China.Environ. Int. 61, 1–7.
- Chimenos, J.M., Fernández, A.I., Hernández, A., Haurie, L., Espiell, F., & Ayora, C., (2006). Optimization of phosphate removal in anodizing aluminium wastewater. Water Res. 40 (1), 137–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.033.
- Chirmuley, D.G., (1994). Struvite Precipitation in WWTPs: Causes and Solutions. Water (J.Aust. Water Assoc.), pp. 21–23.
- Cusick, R.D., Ullery, M.L., Dempsey, B.A., & Logan, B.E., (2014). Electrochemical struvite precipitation from digestate with a fluidized bed cathode microbial electrolysis cell. Water Res. 54, 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.051.
- Conley, D.J., Paerl, H.W., Howarth, R.W., Boesch, D.F., Seitzinger, S.P., Havens, K.E., Lancelot, C., & Likens, G.E. (2009). Ecology - Controlling eutrophication: Nitrogen and phosphorus Science (80-.), 323, pp. 1014-1015, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1167755
- 37. Da Silva, S., Bernet, N., Delgenes, J.P., & Moletta, R., (2000). Effect of culture conditions on the formation of struvite by Myxococcus xanthus. Chemosphere 40, 1289–1296.
- Darwish, M., Aris, A., Puteh, M.H., Abideen, M.Z., & Othman, M.N., (2016). Ammonium nitrogen recovery from wastewater by struvite crystallization technology. Separ.Purif. Rev. 45 (4), 261–274.
- 39. Dawson CJ, & Hilton J., (2011). Fertiliser availability in a resource-limited world: Production and recycling of nitrogen and phosphorus. Food Policy,36:S14–22.
- 40. De Baere, L., (2000). Anaerobic digestion of solid waste: state of the art. Water Sci.Technol. 41, 283–290.
- De Boer, M.A., Romeo-Hall, A., Rooimans, T., & Slootweg, J., (2018). An assessment of the drivers and barriers for the deployment of urban phosphorus recovery technologies: a case study of The Netherlands. Sustainability 10 (6), 1790. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10061790.
- 42. De Vries, S., Postma, R., van Scholl, L., Blom-Zandstra, G., Verhagen, J., & Harms, I., (2016). Economic feasibility and climate benefits of using struvite from the Netherlands as

a phosphate (P) fertilizer in West Africa. Plant Production Systems, PPO/PRI AGRO Water- en Biobased Economy, PPO/PRI AGRO Multifunctioneel Landgebruik. Wagening. Plant Res. https://doi.org/10.18174/417821.

- 43. De Vrieze, J., Colica, G., Pintucci, C., Sarli, J., Pedizzi, C., Willeghems, G., Bral, A., Varga, S., Prat, D., Peng, L., Spiller, M., Buysse, J., Colsen, J., Benito, O., Carballa, M., & Vlaeminck, S.E., (2019). Resource recovery from pig manure via an integrated approach: a technical and economic assessment for full-scale applications. Bioresour. Technol. 272, 582–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.10.024.
- 44. De-Bashan, L. E., & Bashan, Y., (2004). Recent advances in removing phosphorus from wastewater and its future use as fertilizer (1997-2003). Water Research, 38(19), 4222-4246.
- 45. Dennehy, C., Lawlor, P.G., Croize, T., Jiang, Y., Morrison, L., Gardiner, G.E., & Zhan, X., (2016). Synergism and effect of high initial volatile fatty acid concentrations during food waste and pig manure anaerobic co-digestion. Waste Manage. 56, 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.06.032.
- 46. Di Costanzo, N., Cesaro, A., Di Capua, F., & Esposito, G., (2021). Exploiting the Nutrient Potential of Anaerobically Digested Sewage Sludge: A Review. Energies, 14(23), 8149. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14238149
- Do Nascimento, C.A.C., Pagliari, P.H., Faria, L., de, A., & Vitti, G.C., (2018). Phosphorus mobility and behavior in soils treated with calcium, ammonium, and magnesium phosphates. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 82 (3), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2017.06.0211.
- 48. Dockhorn, T., (2009). About the economy of phosphorus recovery.Pdf. Int Conf. Nutr. Recover 145–157.
- 49. Doyle, J.D., & Parsons, S.A., (2002). Struvite formation, control and recovery. Water Res., 36, 3925–3940.
- Duchemin, M., & Hogue, R., (2009). Reduction in agricultural non-point source pollution in the first year following establishment of an integrated grass/tree filter strip system in southern Quebec (Canada). Agric., Ecosyst. Environ. 131 (1–2), 85–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2008.10.005.
- 51. Eaton, A.D., Clesceri, L.S., & Greenberg, A.E., (2005). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. American Public Health Association (APHA). Wash. DC 20001–3710.
- 52. ECCC, (2021). Greenhouse gas sources and sinks: executive summary 2021.
 https://www. 75canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinks-executive-summary-2021.html> .
 Accessed on 15th Feb 2022.
- 53. EPA, (2014). Food waste to energy: How six water resource recovery facilities are boosting biogas production and the bottom line.
- 54. ESPP, (2016). European Sustainable Phosphorus Platform. (http://www. Phosphorusplatform.eu). Accessed on 17th October 2021.
- 55. Fahrenfeld, N., Knowlton, K., Krometis, L.A., Hession, W.C., Xia, K., Lipscomb, E., Libuit, K., Green, B.L., & Pruden, A., (2014). Effect of manure application on abundance

of antibiotic resistance genes and their attenuation rates in soil: field-scale mass balance approach. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 2643–2650.

- 56. FAOSTAT Analytical Brief 14, (2020). Livestock and environment statistics: manure and greenhouse gas emissions. Global, regional and country trends, 1990–2018. FAOSTAT Analytical Brief Series No. 14. Rome.
- 57. Fattah, K.P., Zhang, Y., Mavinic, D.S., & Koch, F.A., (2010). Use of carbon dioxide stripping for struvite crystallization to save caustic dosage: performance at pilotscale operation. Can. J. Civ. Eng. 37 (9), 1271–1275. https://doi.org/10.1139/L10-055.
- 58. Fernández-Lozano, J.A., Colmenares, A.R., & Rosas, D., (1999). A novel process for the production of multinutrient phosphatic base fertilizers from seawater bittern and phosphoric acid. Interciencia 24, 317–320.
- Fijalkowski, K., Rorat, A., Grobelak, A., & Kacprzak, M.J., (2017). The presence of contaminations in sewage sludge – the current situation. J. Environ. Manag. 203, 1126– 1136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.068.
- Fukumoto, Y., Suzuki, K., Kuroda, K., Waki, M., & Yasuda, T., (2011). Effects of struvite formation and nitratation promotion on nitrogenous emissions such as NH3, N2O and NO during swine manure composting. Bioresour. Technol. 102 (2), 1468–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.09.089.
- 61. Gomez-Suarez, A.D., Nobile, C., Faucon, M.-P., Pourret, O., & Houben, D., (2020). Fertilizer potential of struvite as affected by nitrogen form in the rhizosphere. Sustainability 12 (6), 2212. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12062212.
- 62. Gell, K., Ruijter, F.J., Kuntke, P., Graaff, M., & Smit, A.L., (2011). Safety and effectiveness of struvite from black water and urine as a phosphorus fertilizer. J. Agric. Sci. 3, 67–80.
- Girotto, F., & Cossu, R., (2017). Animal waste: opportunities and challenges. In: Lichtfouse, E. (Ed.), Sustainable Agriculture Reviews, Vol. 22. Springer International Publishing, pp. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48006-0_1.
- 64. Gong, W., Li, Y., Luo, L., Luo, X., Cheng, X., & Liang, H., (2018). Application of struvite-MAP crystallization reactor for treating cattle manure anaerobic digested slurry: nitrogen and phosphorus recovery and crystal fertilizer efficiency in plant trials. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15, 1397.
- 65. González-Ponce, R., López-de-Sa, E.G., & Plaza, C., (2009). Lettuce response to phosphorus fertilization with struvite recovered from municipal wastewater. HortScience 44 (2), 426–430. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.44.2.426.
- 66. Graeser, S., Postl, W., Bojar, H.-P., Berlepsch, P., Armbruster, T., Raber, T., & Walter, F., (2008). Struvite-(K), KMgPO4.6H2O, the potassium equivalent of struvite a new mineral. European Journal of Mineralogy 20 (4),629e633
- 67. Güiza, M.S.R., Tait, S., Astals, S., del Valle-Zerme, R., Martínez, M., Mata-Alvarez, J., & Chimenos, J.M., (2015). Reagent use efficiency with removal of nitrogen from pig slurry via struvite: a study on magnesium oxide and related by-products. Water Res. 84, 286–294.
- Hamelin, L., Wesnæs, M., Wenzel, H., & Petersen, B.M., (2011). Environmental consequences of future biogas technologies based on separated slurry. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (13), 5869–5877. https://doi.org/10.1021/es200273j.

- Hanhoun, M., Montastruct, L., Azzaro-Pantel, C., Biscans, B., Freche, M., & Pibouleau, L., (2011). Temperature impact assessment on struvite solubility product: a thermodynamic modeling approach. Chem. Eng. J. 167, 50–58.
- 70. Hao, X., Wang, C., van Loosdrecht, M.C.M., & Hu, Y., (2013). Looking beyond struvite for P recovery. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47 (10), 4965–4966. https://doi.org/10.1021/es401140s.
- 71. Hidalgo, D., Corona, F., Martín-Marroquín, J.M., del 'Alamo, J., & Aguado, A., (2016). Resource recovery from anaerobic digestate: struvite crystallisation versus ammonia stripping. Desalin. Water Treat. 57 (6), 2626–2632. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2014.1001794.
- Hidalgo, D., Martín-Marroquín, J.M., & Corona, F., (2019). A multi-waste management concept as a basis towards a circular economy model. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 111, 481–489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.05.048.
- 73. Hidayat, E., & Harada, H., (2021). Simultaneously Recovery of Phosphorus and Potassium Using Bubble Column Reactor as Struvite-K and Implementation on Crop Growth. In *Crystallizations and Applications*; Ben Smida, Y., Marzouki, R., Eds.; IntechOpen Limited: London, UK.
- Holm-Nielsen, J.B., Al Seadi, T., & Oleskowicz-Popiel, P., (2009). The future of anaerobic digestion and biogas utilization. Bioresour. Technol. 100 (22), 5478–5484. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.12.046.
- 75. Hou, Y., Velthof, G. L., Lesschen, J. P., Staritsky, I. G., & Oenema, O., (2017). Nutrient Recovery and Emissions of Ammonia, Nitrous Oxide, and Methane from Animal Manure in Europe: Effects of Manure Treatment Technologies. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 375-383. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b04524
- 76. Huang, H., Li, B., Li, J., Zhang, P., Yu, W., Zhao, N., Guo, G., & Young, B., (2019). Influence of process parameters on the heavy metal (Zn2+, Cu2+ and Cr3+) content of struvite obtained from synthetic swine wastewater. Environ. Pollut. 245, 658– 665.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.11.046.
- 77. Huang, H., Yang, J., & Li, D., (2014). Recovery and removal of ammonia–nitrogen and phosphate from swine wastewater by internal recycling of struvite chlorination product. Bioresour. Technol. 172, 253–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.024.
- Huang, H.M., Xu, C., & Zhang, W., (2011). Removal of nutrients from piggery wastewater using struvite precipitation and pyrogenation technology. Bioresour. Technol. 102,2523– 2528.
- 79. Huang, H.M., Zhang, D.D., Li, J., Guo, G.J., & Tang, S.F., (2017). Phosphate recovery from swine wastewater using plant ash in chemical crystallization. J. Clean. Prod. 168, 338–345.
- Huang, X., Ye, Z.-L., Cai, J., & Lin, L., (2021). Quantification of DOM effects on tetracyclines transport during struvite recovery from swine wastewater. Water Res. 206, 117756 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117756.
- 81. Huygens, D., Saveyn, H.G.M., Tonini, D., Eder, P., & Delgado Sancho, L., (2019). Technical Proposals for Selected New Fertilising Materials under the Fertilising Products Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2019/1009)—Process and Quality Criteria, and Assessment

of Environmental and Market Impacts for Precipitated Phosphate Salts & Derivates, Thermal Oxidation Materials & Derivates and Pyrolysis & Gasification Materials, EUR 29841 EN; Publications Office of the European Union: Luxembourg, ISBN 978-92-76-09888-1.

- Iacovidou, E., Vlachopoulou, M., Mallapaty, S., Ohandja, D.G., Gronow, J., & Voulvoulis, N., (2013). Anaerobic digestion in municipal solid waste management: Part of an integrated, holistic and sustainable solution. Waste Manage. 33, 1035–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2013.03.010.
- Ichihashi, O., & Hirooka, K., (2012). Removal and recovery of phosphorus as struvite from swine wastewater using microbial fuel cell. Bioresour. Technol. 114, 303–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.124.
- 84. Jaffer, Y., Clark, T.A., Pearce, P., & Parsons, S.A., (2002). Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. Water Res. 36, 1834–1842.
- Jiang, T., Ma, X., Tang, Q., Yang, J., Li, G., & Schuchardt, F., (2016a). Combined use of nitrification inhibitor and struvite crystallization to reduce the NH3 and N2O emissions during composting. Bioresour. Technol. 217, 210–218. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2016.01.089.
- 86. Jiang, T., Ma, X., Yang, J., Tang, Q., Yi, Z., Chen, M., & Li, G., (2016b). Effect of different struvite crystallization methods on gaseous emission and the comprehensive comparison during the composting. Bioresour. Technol. 217, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.02.046.
- Jin, Y., Hu, Z., & Wen, Z., (2009). Enhancing anaerobic digestibility and phosphorus recovery of dairy manure through microwave-based thermochemical pretreatment. Water Res. 43 (14), 3493–3502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.05.017.
- Jomova, K., & Valko, M., (2011). Advances in metal-induced oxidative stress and human disease. Toxicology 283, 65–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2011.03.001.
- Jones, D.L., Cross, P., Withers, P.J.A., De Luca, T.H., Robinson, D.A., Quilliam, R.S., Harris, I.M., Chadwick, D.R., & Edwards-Jones, G., (2013). Review: nutrient stripping: the global disparity between food security and soil nutrient stocks. J Appl Ecol,50(4):851– 62.
- Kabdaslı, I., & Tünay, O., (2018). Nutrient recovery by struvite precipitation, ion exchange and adsorption from source-separated human urine – a review. Environ. Technol. Rev. 7, 106–138.
- 91. Kataki, S., Westb, H., Clarke, M., & Baruah, D.C., (2016). Phosphorus recovery as struvite from farm, municipal and industrial waste: feedstock suitability, methods and pretreatments. Waste Manag. 49, 437–454.
- 92. Kim, B.U., Lee, W.H., Lee, H.J., & Rim, J.M., (2004). Ammonium nitrogen removal from slurry-type swine wastewater by pretreatment using struvite crystallization for nitrogen control of anaerobic digestion. Water Sci. Technol. 49, 215–222.
- 93. Kim, D., Min, K.J., Lee, K., Yu, M.S., & Park, K.Y., (2016). Effects of pH, molar ratios and pretreatment on phosphorus recovery through struvite crystallization from effluent of anaerobically digested swine wastewater. Environ. Eng. Res. 22 (1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.4491/eer.2016.037.

- 94. Kool, A., Marinussen, M., & Blonk, H., (2012). LCI Data for the calculation tool feedprint for GHG emissions of feed production and utilization of GHG emissions of N, P and K fertilizer production. Blonk consultations.
- Koutsoukos, P.G., Kofina, A.N., & Klepetsanis, P.G., (2003). Exploration of Alternatives for Phosphorus Recovery from Wastewater by Crystallization; Wasic Workshop: Istanbul, Turkey.
- 96. Kumar, R., & Pal, P., (2015). Assessing the feasibility of N and P recovery by struvite precipitation from nutrient-rich wastewater: a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22 (22), 17453–17464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5450-2.
- 97. Kwietniewska, E., & Tys, J., (2014). Process characteristics, inhibition factors and methane yields of anaerobic digestion process, with particular focus on microalgal biomass fermentation, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 34, pp. 491–500, Jun, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2014.03.041.
- 98. Kwon, G., Kang, J., Nam, J.-H., Kim, Y.-O., & Jahng, D., (2018). Recovery of ammonia through struvite production using anaerobic digestate of piggery wastewater and leachate of sewage sludge ash. Environ. Technol. 39 (7), 831–842. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09593330.2017.1312550.
- 99. Lamastra, L., Suciu, N.A., & Trevisan, M., (2018). Sewage sludge for sustainable agriculture: contaminants' contents and potential use as fertilizer. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric. 5(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-018-0122-3.
- 100. Lamolinara, B., Pérez-Martínez, A., Guardado-Yordi, E., Guillén Fiallos, C., Diéguez-Santana, K., & Ruiz-Mercado, G. J., (2022). Anaerobic digestate management, environmental impacts, and techno-economic challenges. Waste Management, 140, 14–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2021.12.035
- 101. Latifian, M., Liu, J., & Mattiasson, B., (2012). Struvite-based fertilizer and its physical and chemical properties. Environ. Technol. 33 (24), 2691–2697. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09593330.2012.676073.
- 102. Le Corre, K.S., Valsami-Jones, E., Hobbs, P., & Parsons, S.A., (2005). Impact of calcium on struvite crystal size, shape and purity. J. Cryst. Growth. 283, 514–522.
- Le Corre, K.S., Valsami-Jones, E., Hobbs, P., & Parsons, S.A., (2007). Impact of reactor operation on success of struvite precipitation from synthetic liquors. Environ. Technol. 28, 1245–1256.
- 104. Lee, E.Y., Oh, M.H., Yang, S.-H., & Yoon, T.H., (2015). Struvite crystallization of anaerobic digestive fluid of swine manure containing highly concentrated nitrogen. Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 28 (7), 1053–1060. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.14.0679.
- 105. Leiva, M.B., Koupaie, E.H., & Eskicioglu, C., (2014). Anaerobic co-digestion of wine/fruit-juice production waste with landfill leachate diluted municipal sludge cake under semi-continuous flow operation. Waste Manag., 34:1860.
- 106. Li, H., Yao, Q.-Z., Yu, S.-H., Huang, Y.-R., Chen, X.-D., Fu, S.-Q., & Zhou, G.-T., (2017). Bacterially mediated morphogenesis of struvite and its implication for phosphorus recovery. Am. Mineral. 102 (2), 381–390. https://doi.org/10.2138/am-2017-5687.
- 107. Li, J., Xin, Z., Zhang, Y., Chen, J., Yan, J., Li, H., & Hu, H., (2017). Long-term manure application increased the levels of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a

greenhouse soil. Appl. Soil Ecol. 121, 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2017.10.007.

- 108. Li, W., Ding, X., Liu, M., Guo, Y., & Liu, L., (2012). Optimization of process parameters for mature landfill leachate pretreatment using MAP precipitation. Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. 6, 892–900.
- 109. Li, X. Z., & Zhao, Q. L., (2003). Recovery of ammonium-nitrogen from landfill leachate as a multi-nutrient fertilizer. Ecological Engineering, _20_(2), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-8574(03)00012-0
- 110. Lijo, L., Frison, N., Fatone, F., González-García, S., Feijoo, G., & Moreira, M.T., (2018). Environmental and sustainability evaluation of livestock waste management practices in Cyprus. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 127–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.299.
- 111. Liu, X., Hu, Z., Mu, J., Zang, H., & Liu, L., (2014). Phosphorus recovery from urine with different magnesium resourse in an air-agitated reactor. Environ. Technol. 35,2781–2787.
- 112. Liu, Y.H., Kumar, S., Kwag, J.H., Kim, J.H., Kim, J.D., & Ra, C.S., (2011). Recycle of electrolytically dissolved struvite as an alternative to enhance phosphate and nitrogen recovery from swine wastewater. J. Hazard. Mater. 195, 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.08.022.
- 113. Lorick, D., Macura, B., Ahlström, M., Grimvall, A., & Harder, R., (2020). Effectiveness of struvite precipitation and ammonia stripping for recovery of phosphorus and nitrogen from anaerobic digestate: A systematic review. Environmental Evidence, 9(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-020-00211-x
- 114. Luo, Z., Wang, D., Yang, J., Huang, H., & Su, G., (2019). Nitrogen removal from digested piggery wastewater using fermented superphosphate within the pretreatment stage and an MAP fertilizer pot test. J. Clean. Prod. 212, 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.12.052.
- 115. Ma, G., Ndegwa, P., Harrison, J. H., & Chen, Y., (2020). Methane Yields during Anaerobic Co-digestion of Animal Manure with Other Feedstocks: A Meta-Analysis. Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138224. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138224
- 116. Massé, D.I., Masse, L., & Croteau, F., (2003). The effect of temperature fluctuations on psychrophilic anaerobic sequencing batch reactors treating swine manure. Bioresource Technology 89, 57–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(03)00009-9
- 117. Macura, B., Piniewski, M., Księżniak, M., Osuch, P., Haddaway, N., Ek, F., Andersson, K., & Tattari, S., (2019). Effectiveness of ecotechnologies in agriculture for the recovery and reuse of carbon and nutrients in the Baltic and boreotemperate regions: a systematic map. Environ Evid., 8:1–18.
- 118. Mahato, P., Rajagopal, R., Goyette, B., & Adhikary, S., (2022). Low-temperature anaerobic digestion of chicken manure at high organic and nitrogen loads—Strategies for controlling short chain fatty acids. _Bioresource Technology, 351, 127049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.127049
- 119. Mahato, P., (2020). Two-Stage (Liquid-Solid) Anaerobic Digestion of High Solid/High Ammonia rich Manures at a Low Temperature adopting Recirculation- Percolation Operational Mode. [Master of Science], Concordia University

- 120. Manyi-Loh, C., Mamphweli, S., Meyer, E., Okoh, A., Makaka, G., & Simon, M., (2013). Microbial anaerobic digestion (Bio-Digesters) as an approach to the decontamination of animal wastes in pollution control and the generation of renewable energy. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 10 (9), 4390–4417. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10094390.
- 121. Mata-Alvarez, J., Dosta, J., Romero-Güiza, M. S., Fonoll, X., Peces, M., & Astals, S., (2014). A Critical Review on Anaerobic Co-digestion Achievements between 2010 and 2013. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 36, 412–427. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.039
- 122. McCrackin, M.L., Gustafsson, B.G., Hong, B., Howarth, R.W., Humborg, C., Savchuk, O.P., Svanbäck, A., & Swaney, D.P., (2018). Opportunities to reduce nutrient inputs to the Baltic Sea by improving manure use efficiency in agriculture. RegEnviron Change, 18(6):1843–54.
- 123. Merrylin, J., Kannah, R. Y., Banu, J. R., & Yeom, I. T., (2020). Production of organic acids and enzymes/biocatalysts from food waste. In Food Waste to Valuable Resources (pp. 119–141). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818353-3.00006-7
- 124. Min, K.J., & Park, K.Y., (2021). Economic feasibility of phosphorus recovery through struvite from liquid anaerobic digestate of animal waste. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28 (30), 40703–40714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-12664-9.
- Molinos-Senante, M., Hernández-Sancho, F., Sala-Garrido, R., & Garrido-Baserba, M., (2011). Economic feasibility study for phosphorus recovery processes. Ambio 40 (4),408–416.
- 126. Monlau, F., Sambusiti, C., Ficara, E., Aboulkas, A., Barakat, A., & Carrère, H., (2015). New opportunities for agricultural digestate valorization: current situation and perspectives. Energy Environ. Sci. 8 (9), 2600–2621. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5EE01633A.
- 127. Moody, L.B., Burns, R.T., & Stalder, K.J., (2009). Effect of anaerobic digestion on manure characteristics for phosphorus precipitation from swine waste. Appl. Eng. Agric. 25(1), 97–102. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.25430.
- 128. Möller, K., & Müller, T., (2012). Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: A review: Digestate nutrient availability. Engineering in Life Sciences, 12(3), 242–257. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201100085
- 129. Morales, C.G., Valero, M.A.C., Perez, F.J.M., & Fernandez, B., (2019). Effect of the stirring speed on the struvite formation using the centrate from a WWTP Revista Facultad de Ingeniería Universidad de Antioquia, no. 92, pp. 42–50, 2019 Facultad de Ingeniería, Universidad de Antioquia.10.17533/udea.redin.20190518.
- 130. Moussa, S.B., Tlili, M.M., Batis, N., & Amor, M.B., (2011). Influence of temperature on Struvite precipitation by CO2-degassing method. Cryst. Res. Technol. 46, 255–260.
- 131. Muhmood, A., Lu, J., Dong, R., & Wu, S., (2019). Formation of struvite from agricultural wastewaters and its reuse on farmlands: status and hindrances to closing the nutrient loop. J Environ Manage;230:1–13.
- Muhmood, A., Wang, X., Dong, R., & Wu, S., (2021). New insights into interactions of organic substances in poultry slurry with struvite formation: an overestimated concern. Sci. Total Environ. 751, 141789 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141789.

- 133. Muhmood, A., Wu, S., Lu, J., Ajmal, Z., Luo, H., & Dong, R., (2018). Nutrient recovery from anaerobically digested chicken slurry via struvite: performance optimization and interactions with heavy metals and pathogens. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.129.
- 134. Munch, E., & Barr, K., (2001). Controlled struvite crystallisation for removing phosphorus from anaerobic digester sidestreams. Water Res. 35, 151–159.
- 135. Muys, M., Phukan, R., Brader, G., Samad, A., Moretti, M., Haiden, B., Pluchon, S., Roest, K., Vlaeminck, S.E., & Spiller, M., (2021). A systematic comparison of commercially produced struvite: quantities, qualities and soil-maize phosphorus availability. Sci. Total Environ. 756, 143726 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143726.
- 136. Nagarajan, A., Goyette B., Raghavan, V., Bhaskar, A., & Rajagopal, R., (2023). Nutrient recovery via struvite production from livestock manure-digestate streams: Towards closed loop bio-economy, Process Safety and Environmental Protection, Volume 171, Pages 273-288,ISSN 0957-5820, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2023.01.006.
- 137. Nutrien, (2022). Nutrien Fact Book, Link to source: https://nutrien-prod-asset.s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/uploads/2022-06/Nutrien%202022%20Fact%20Book.pdf).
- 138. Omidire, N., English, L., Brye, C., Popp, J., & Greenlee, L., (2023). Struvite: Definition, Benefits, and Potential Application in Arkansas Agriculture,FSA9542,University of Arkansas, United States Department of Agriculture, and County Governments Cooperating,https://www.uaex.uada.edu/publications/pdf/FSA9542.pdf
- 139. Parra-Orobio, B.A., Pérez-Vidal, A., & Torres-Lozada, P., (2021). Potential production of struvite from the anaerobic digestion of food waste: analysis in one-phase and two phase configurations. Water Sci. Technol. 84 (4), 1048–1058. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2021.299.
- 140. Pedizzi, C., Noya, I., Sarli, J., González-García, S., Lema, J.M., Moreira, M.T., & Carballa, M., (2018). Environmental assessment of alternative treatment schemes for energy and nutrient recovery from livestock manure. Waste Manag. 77, 276– 286.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.04.007.
- 141. Perera, P.W.A., Han, Z.-Y., Chen, Y.-X., & Wu, W.-X., (2007). Recovery of Nitrogen and Phosphorous as Struvite From Swine Waste Biogas Digester Effluent. 8.
- 142. Perera, P.W.A., Wu, W.-X., Chen, Y.-X., & Han, Z.-Y., (2009). Struvite recovery from swine waste biogas digester effluent through a stainless steel device under constant pH conditions. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 22 (3), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-3988(09)60046-5.
- 143. Pigoli, A., Zilio, M., Tambone, F., Mazzini, S., Schepis, M., Meers, E., Schoumans, O., Giordano, A., & Adani, F., (2021). Thermophilic anaerobic digestion as suitable bioprocess producing organic and chemical renewable fertilizers: A full-scale approach. Waste Manag., 124, 356–367.
- 144. Pintucci, C., Carballa, M., Varga, S., Sarli, J., Peng, L., Bousek, J., Pedizzi, C., Ruscalleda, M., Tarrag'o, E., Prat, D., Colica, G., Picavet, M., Colsen, J., Benito, O., Balaguer, M., Puig, S., Lema, J.M., Colprim, J., Fuchs, W., & Vlaeminck, S.E., (2017). The manureEcoMine pilot installation: advanced integration of technologies for

themanagement of organics and nutrients in livestock waste. Water Sci. Technol. 75 (6),1281–1293. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2016.559.

- 145. Prabhu, M., & Mutnuri, S., (2014). Cow urine as a potential source for struvite production. Int. J. Recycl. Org. Waste Agric. 3, 49.
- 146. Qureshi, A., Lo, K.V., & Liao, P.H., (2008). Microwave treatment and struvite recovery potential of dairy manure. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part B 43 (4), 350–357. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601230801941709.
- 147. Rajinikanth, R., Ramirez, I., Steyer, J. P., Mehrotra, I., Kumar, P., Escudie, R., & Torrijos, M., (2008). Experimental and modeling investigations of a hybrid upflow anaerobic sludge-filter bed (UASFB) reactor. Water Science and Technology, 58(1), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2008.342
- 148. Rahman, M.M., Salleh, M.A.M., Rashid, U., Ahsan, A., Hossain, M.M., & Ra, C.S., (2014). Production of slow release crystal fertilizer from wastewaters through struvite crystallization a review. Arab J Chem. ;7(1):139–55.
- 149. Rahman, M.M., Liu, Y., Kwag, J.-H., & Ra, C., (2011). Recovery of struvite from animal wastewater and its nutrient leaching loss in soil. J. Hazard. Mater. 186 (2–3),2026–2030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.12.103.
- 150. Rech, I., Kamogawa, M.Y., Jones, D.L., & Pavinato, P.S., (2020). Synthesis and characterization of struvite derived from poultry manure as a mineral fertilizer. J. Environ. Manag. 272, 111072 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111072.
- 151. Rech, I., Withers, P., Jones, D., & Pavinato, P., (2018). Solubility, diffusion and crop uptake of phosphorus in three different struvites. Sustainability 11 (1), 134. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010134.
- 152. Rehl, T., & Müller, J., (2011). Life Cycle Assessment of Biogas Digestate Processing Technologies. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 56, 92-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2011.08.007
- 153. Reyhanitash, E., Kersten, S. R. A., & Schuur, B., (2017). Recovery of Volatile Fatty Acids from Fermented Wastewater by Adsorption. ACS sustainable chemistry & engineering, 5(10), 9176–9184. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.7b02095
- 154. Rico, C., García, H., & Rico, J.L., (2011). Physical-anaerobic-chemical process for treatment of dairy cattle manure. Bioresour. Technol. 102 (3), 2143–2150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.10.068.
- 155. Rigby, H., & Smith, S.R., (2013). Nitrogen availability and indirect measurements of greenhouse gas emissions from aerobic and anaerobic biowaste digestates applied to agricultural soils. Waste Manage. 33, 2641–2652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2013.08.005.
- 156. Rittl, T., Krogstad, T., Eikås, S., Saltnes, T., Sørensen, G., Glestad, H.E., & Løes, K., (2019). Effects of struvite application on soil and plants: A short-term field study. 38.
- 157. Robinson, T.P., Wint, G.R.W., Conchedda, G., Van Boeckel, T.P., Ercoli, V., Palamara E., Cinardi, G., D'Aietti, L., I. Hay, S. & Gilbert, M., (2014) Mapping the Global Distribution of Livestock. PLoS ONE 9(5): e96084. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096084

- 158. Robles-Aguilar, A.A., Grunert, O., Hernandez-Sanabria, E., Mysara, M., Meers, E., Boon, N., & Jablonowski, N.D., (2020). Effect of applying struvite and organic N as recovered fertilizers on the rhizosphere dynamics and cultivation of lupine (Lupinusangustifolius). Front. Plant Sci. 11, 572741 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.572741.
- Rockström, J., W. Steffen, K. Noone, Å. Persson, F.S. Chapin, III, E.F. Lambin, T.M. Lenton, M. Scheffer, C. Folke, H.J. Schellnhuber, B. Nykvist, C.A. de Wit, T. Hughes, S. van der Leeuw, H. Rodhe, S. Sörlin, P.K. Snyder, R. Costanza, U. Svedin, M. Falkenmark, L. Karlberg, R.W. Corell, V.J. Fabry, J. Hansen, B. Walker, D. Liverman, K. Richardson, P. Crutzen, & Foley, J.A., (2009). A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature*, 461, 472-475, doi:10.1038/461472a.
- 160. Romero-Güiza, M.S., Astals, S., Chimenos, J.M., Martínez, M., & Mata-Alvarez, J., (2014). Improving anaerobic digestion of pig manure by adding in the same reactor a stabilizing agent formulated with low-grade magnesium oxide. Biomass Bioenergy,67, 243–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.04.034.
- 161. Romero-Güiza, M.S., Astals, S., Mata-Alvarez, J., & Chimenos, J.M., (2015). Feasibility of coupling anaerobic digestion and struvite precipitation in the same reactor: Evaluation of different magnesium sources. Chemical Engineering Journal 270,542–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.02.057.
- 162. Ryu, H.D., & Lee, S.I., (2010). Application of struvite precipitation as a pre-treatment in treating swine wastewater. Process Biochem. 45, 563–572.
- 163. Ryu, H.-D., Lim, D.Y., Kim, S.-J., Baek, U.-I., Chung, E.G., Kim, K., & Lee, J.K., (2020). Struvite precipitation for sustainable recovery of nitrogen and phosphorus from anaerobic digestion effluents of swine manure. Sustainability 12 (20), 8574. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12208574.
- 164. Saerens, B., Geerts, S., & Weemaes, M., (2021). Phosphorus recovery as struvite from digested sludge – experience from the full scale. J. Environ. Manag. 280, 111743 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111743.
- 165. Sambusiti, C., Ficara, E., Malpei, F., Steyer, J. P., & Carrère, H., (2013). Benefit of sodium hydroxide pretreatment of ensiled sorghum forage on the anaerobic reactor stability and methane production. Bioresource Technology, 144, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.095
- 166. Scaglia, B., Tambone, F., Corno, L., Orzi, V., Lazzarini, Y., Garuti, G., & Adani, F., (2018). Potential agronomic and environmental properties of thermophilic anaerobically digested municipal sewage sludge measured by an unsupervised and a supervised chemometric approach. Sci. Total Environ., 637–638, 791–802.
- 167. Shaddel, S., Ucar, S., Andreassen, J.-P., & Østerhus, S.W., (2019). Engineering of struvite crystals by regulating supersaturation – correlation with phosphorus recovery, crystal morphology and process efficiency. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 7 (1), 102918, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.102918.
- 168. Shen, Y., Ogejo, J.A., & Bowers, K.E., (2011). Abating the effects of calcium on struvite precipitation in liquid dairy manure. Trans. ASABE 54, 325–336.

- 169. Siciliano, A., & De Rosa, S., (2014). Recovery of ammonia in digestates of calf manure through a struvite precipitation process using unconventional reagents. Environ. Technol. 35, 841–850.
- 170. Siciliano, A., Limonti, C., Curcio, G.M., & Molinari, R., (2020). Advances in struvite precipitation technologies for nutrients removal and recovery from aqueous waste and wastewater. Sustainability 12 (18), 7538. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12187538.
- 171. Siciliano, A., Ruggiero, C., & De Rosa, S., (2013). A new integrated treatment for the reduction of organic and nitrogen loads in methanogenic landfill leachates. Process Saf. Environ. Protect. 91, 311–320.
- 172. Silkina, A., Zacharof, M.-P., Hery, G., Nouvel, T., Lovitt, R.W., (2017). Formulation and utilisation of spent anaerobic digestate fluids for the growth and product formation of single cell algal cultures in heterotrophic and autotrophic conditions. Bioresour. Technol. 244, 1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.133.
- 173. Smit, A.L., Bindraban, P.S., Schroder, J.J., Conijn, J.G., & Van der Meer, H.G., (2009). Phosphorus in agricultre: global resources, trends and developments. report to the steering committee technology assessment of the ministry of agriculture, nature and food quality, The Netherlands, and in collaboration with the nutrient flow task group, supported by DPRN. Plant Res. 282.
- 174. Sondergaard, M. M., Fotidis, I. A., Kovalovszki, A., & Angelidaki, I., (2015). Anaerobic Co-digestion of Agricultural Byproducts with Manure for Enhanced Biogas Production. Energ Fuel 29, 8088–8094.
- 175. Song, Y.-H., Qiu, G.-L., Yuan, P., Cui, X.-Y., Peng, J.-F., Zeng, P., Duan, L., Xiang, L.-C., & Qian, F., (2011). Nutrients removal and recovery from anaerobically digested swine wastewater by struvite crystallization without chemical additions. J. Hazard. Mater.190 (1–3), 140–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.03.015.
- 176. Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., de Vries, W., de Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Sustainability. Planetary boundaries: guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 347(6223), 1259855. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855
- 177. Styles, D., Dominguez, E.M., & Chadwick, D., (2016). Environmental balance of the UK biogas sector: an evaluation by consequential life cycle assessment. Sci. Total Environ. 560–561, 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.236.
- 178. Suzuki, K., Tanaka, Y., Kuroda, K., Hanajima, D., & Fukumoto, Y., (2005). Recovery of phosphorous from swine wastewater through crystallization. Bioresour. Technol. 96 (14), 1544–1550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004.12.017.
- 179. Suzuki, K., Tanaka, Y., Kuroda, K., Hanajima, D., Fukumoto, Y., Yasuda, T., & Waki, M., (2007). Removal and recovery of phosphorous from swine wastewater by demonstration crystallization reactor and struvite accumulation device. Bioresour. Technol. 98 (8), 1573–1578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.06.008.
- 180. Szymanska, M., Sosulski, T., Bo zętka, A., Dawidowicz, U., Wąs, A., Szara, E., Malak-Rawlikowska, A., Sulewski, P., van Pruissen, G.W.P., & Cornelissen, R.L., (2020).

Evaluating the struvite recovered from anaerobic digestate in a farm bio-refinery as a slow-release fertiliser. Energies 13 (20), 5342. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13205342.

- 181. Szymanska, M., Szara, E., Sosulski, T., Wąs, A., Van Pruissen, Cornelissen, R.L., Borowik, M., Konkol, M., (2019b). A Bio-Refinery Concept for N and P Recovery—A Chance for Biogas Plant Development. Energies 12 (1), 155. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12010155.
- 182. Szymanska, M., Szara, E., Wąs, A., Sosulski, T., van Pruissen, G., Cornelissen, R., (2019a). Struvite – an innovative fertilizer from anaerobic digestate produced in a biorefinery. Energies 12 (2), 296. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12020296.
- 183. Taddeo, R., & Lepisto, R., (2015). Struvite precipitation in raw and co-digested swine slurries for nutrients recovery in batch reactors. Water Sci. Technol. 71, 892–897.
- 184. Talboys, P.J., Heppell, J., Roose, T., Healey, J.R., Jones, D.L., & Withers, P.J.A., (2016). Struvite: a slow-release fertiliser for sustainable phosphorus management. Plant Soil 401 (1–2), 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2747-3.
- 185. Tambone, F., Scaglia, B., D'Imporzano, G., Schievano, A., Orzi, V., Salati, S., & Adani, F., (2010). Assessing amendment and fertilizing properties of digestates from anaerobic digestion through a comparative study with digested sludge and compost Chemosphere, 81, pp. 577-583, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.08.034
- 186. Tansel, B., Lunn, G., & Monje, O., (2018). Struvite formation and decomposition characteristics for ammonia and phosphorus recovery: a review of magnesium ammoniaphosphate interactions. Chemosphere 194, 504–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.12.004.
- 187. Tao, Q., Zhou, S., Luo, J., & Yuan, J., (2015). Nutrient removal and electricity production from wastewater using microbial fuel cell technique. Desalinization 365, 92–98.
- 188. Tao, W., Fattah, K. P., & Huchzermeier, M. P., (2016). Struvite recovery from anaerobically digested dairy manure: A review of application potential and hindrances. Journal of Environmental Management, 169, 46–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.12.006
- 189. Tarrago, E., Puig, S., Ruscalleda, M., Balaguer, M.D., & Colprim, J., (2016). Controlling struvite particles' size using the up-flow velocity. Chem. Eng. J. 302, 819– 827.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016.06.036.
- 190. Tarrago, E., Ruscalleda, M., Colprim, J., Balaguer, M.D., & Puig, S., (2018). Towards a methodology for recovering K-struvite from manure: towards a methodology for recovering K-struvite from manure. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 93 (6),1558–1562. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.5518.
- 191. Temizel-Sekeryan, S., Wu, F., & Hicks, A.L., (2021). Life cycle assessment of struvite precipitation from anaerobically digested dairy manure: a Wisconsin perspective. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 17 (1), 292–304. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.4318.
- 192. Thiessen Martens, J.R., Entz, M.H., Schneider, K.D., Zvomuya, F., & Wilson, H.F., (2022). Response of organic grain and forage crops to struvite application in an alkaline soil. Agron. J. 114 (1), 795–810. https://doi.org/10.1002/agj2.20943.
- 193. Tonini, D., Hamelin, L., Alvarado-Morales, M., & Astrup, T.F., (2016). GHG emission factors for bioelectricity, biomethane, and bioethanol quantified for 24 biomass substrates

with consequential life-cycle assessment. Bioresour. Technol. 208, 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.02.052.

- 194. Tran, A.T.K., Zhang, Y., De Corte, D., Hannes, J., Ye, W., Mondal, P., Jullok, N., Meesschaert, B., Pinoy, L., & Bruggen, B.V., (2014). P-recovery as calcium phosphate from wastewater using an integrated selectrodialysis/crystallization process. J. Clean. Prod. 77, 140–151.
- 195. Tünay, O., Kabdasli, I., Orhon, D., & Kolçak, S., (1997). Ammonia removal by magnesium ammonium phosphate precipitation in industrial wastewaters. Water Sci. Technol.36, 225–228.
- 196. Ueno, Y., & Fujii, M., (2001). Three years experience of operating and selling recovered struvite from full-scale plant. Environ. Technol. 22 (11), 1373–1381. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593332208618196.
- 197. Uludag-Demirer, S., Demirer, G.N., & Chen, S., (2005). Ammonia removal from anaerobically digested dairy manure by struvite precipitation. Process Biochem. 40 (12), 3667–3674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2005.02.028.
- 198. Van den Oever, A.E.M., Cardellini, G., Sels, B.F., & Messagie, M., (2021). Life cycle environmental impacts of compressed biogas production through anaerobic digestion of manure and municipal organic waste. J. Clean. Prod. 306, 127156 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127156.
- 199. Van Rensburg, P., Musvoto, E. V., Wentzel, M. C., & Ekama, G. A., (2003). Modeling multiple mineral precipitation in anaerobic digester liquor. Water Research 37(13): 3087-3097.
- 200. Van Stappen, F., Mathot, M., Decruyenaere, V., Loriers, A., Delcour, A., Planchon, V., Goffart, J.-P., & Stilmant, D., (2016). Consequential environmental life cycle assessment of a farm-scale biogas plant. J. Environ. Manag. 175, 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.03.020.
- 201. Vidlarova, P., Heviankova, S., & Kyncl, M., (2017). Contribution to the study of ammonia removal from digestate by struvite precipitation. IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 92, 012072 https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/92/1/012072.
- 202. Wang, F., Sun, R., Hu, H., Duan, G., Meng, L., & Qiao, M., (2022). The overlap of soil and vegetable microbes drives the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from manure amended soil to vegetables. Sci. Total Environ. 828, 154463 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154463.
- 203. Wang, S., Sun, K., Xiang, H., Zhao, Z., Shi, Y., Su, L., Tan, C., & Zhang, L., (2022). Biochar-seeded struvite precipitation for simultaneous nutrient recovery and chemical oxygen demand removal in leachate: From laboratory to pilot scale. Frontiers in Chemistry, 10, 990321. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2022.990321
- 204. Wang, X., Selvam, A., Chan, M., Wong, J.W.C., (2013). Nitrogen conservation and acidity control during food wastes composting through struvite formation. Bioresour. Technol. 147, 17–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.07.060.
- 205. Warmadewanthi, Rodlia, A., Ikhlas, N., Pandebesie, E.S., Bagastyo, A.Y., & Herumurti, W., (2020). The effect of mixing rate on struvite recovery from the fertilizer industry. IOP

Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 506 (1), 012013 https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/506/1/012013.

- 206. Wellinger, A., Murphy, J., Baxter, D., (2013). The Biogas Handbook: Science, Production and Applications; Elsevier.
- 207. Withers, P.J.A., Elser, J.J., Hilton, J., Ohtake, H., Schipper, W.J., & van Dijk, K.C., (2015). Greening the global phosphorus cycle: how green chemistry can help achieve planetary P sustainability. Green Chem. 17 (4), 2087–2099. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4GC02445A.
- 208. Wojnowska-Baryła, I., Bernat, K., & Sartowska, S., (2018). Biological stability of multicomponent agri-food digestates and post-digestates. Waste Management, 77, 140– 146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.05.016
- 209. Wrigley, T.J., Webb, K.M., & Venkitachalm, H., (1992). A laboratory study of struvite precipitation after anaerobic digestion of piggery wastes. Bioresour. Technol. 41 (2), 117– 121. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-8524(92)90180-6.
- 210. Wukovits, W., & Schnitzhofer, W. (2009). FUELS HYDROGEN PRODUCTION | Biomass: Fermentation. In Encyclopedia of Electrochemical Power Sources (pp. 268– 275). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044452745-5.00312-9
- 211. Xu, K., Li, J., Zheng, M., Zhang, C., Xie, T., & Wang, C., (2015). The precipitation of magnesium potassium phosphate hexahydrate for P and K recovery from synthetic urine. Water Res. 80, 71e79.
- 212. Ye, Z.-L., Chen, S.-H., Wang, S.-M., Lin, L.-F., Yan, Y.-J., Zhang, Z.-J., & Chen, J.-S., (2010). Phosphorus recovery from synthetic swine wastewater by chemical precipitation using response surface methodology. J. Hazard. Mater. 176 (1–3), 1083– 1088.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.10.129.
- 213. Yetilmezsoy, K., Ilhan, F., Kiyan, E., & Bahramian, M., (2022). A comprehensive technoeconomic analysis of income-generating sources on the conversion of real sheep slaughterhouse waste stream into valorized by-products. J. Environ. Manag. 306,114464 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.114464.
- 214. Yetilmezsoy, K., Ilhan, F., Kocak, E., & Akbin, H.M., (2017). Feasibility of struvite recovery process for fertilizer industry: a study of financial and economic analysis. J. Clean. Prod. 152, 88–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.106.
- 215. Yetilmezsoy, K., Kocak, E., Akbin, H.M., & Ozçimen, D., (2018). Utilization of struvite recovered from high-strength ammonium-containing simulated wastewater as slowrelease fertilizer and fire-retardant barrier. Environ. Technol. 2020 (41), 153– 170.https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2018.1491642.
- 216. Yetilmezsoy, K., & Sapci-Zengin, Z., (2009). Recovery of ammonium nitrogen from the effluent of UASB treating poultry manure wastewater by MAP precipitation as a slow release fertilizer. J. Hazard Mater. 166 (1), 260–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.11.025.
- 217. Yetilmezsoy, K., Türkdogan, F.I., Gunay, A., Yilmaz, T., & Kaleli, M., (2013). Medicinal plants grown in soil amended with struvite recovered from anaerobically pretreated poultry manure wastewater. J. Anim. Plant Sci. Vol.23, 261–270.

- 218. Yilmazel, Y.D., & Demirer, G.N., (2011). Removal and recovery of nutrients as struvite from anaerobic digestion residues of poultry manure. Environ. Technol. 32 (7), 783–794. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2010.512925.
- 219. Yilmazel, Y.D., & Demirer, G.N., (2013). Nitrogen and phosphorus recovery from anaerobic co-digestion residues of poultry manure and maize silage via struvite precipitation. Waste Manag. Res.: J. a Sustain. Circ. Econ. 31 (8), 792–804. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242×13492005.
- 220. Yu, H., & Huang, G.H., (2009). Effects of sodium acetate as a pH control amendment on the composting of food waste. Bioresour. Technol. 100, 2005–2011. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.10.007.
- 221. Zeng, L., & Li, X., (2006). Nutrient removal from anaerobically digested cattle manure by struvite precipitation. J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 5 (4), 285–294. https://doi.org/10.1139/s05-027.
- 222. Zhang, D.M., Chen, Y.X., Jilani, G., Wu, W.X., Liu, W., & Hen, J., (2012). Optimization of struvite crystallization protocol for pretreating the swine wastewater and its impact on subsequent anaerobic biodegradation of pollutants. Bioresour. Technol. 116,386–395.
- 223. Zhang, T., Bowers, K.E., Harrison, J.H., & Chen, S., (2010). Releasing phosphorus from calcium for struvite fertilizer production from anaerobically digested dairy effluent. Water Environ. Res. 82 (1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143009×425924.
- 224. Zhang, T., Ding, D., Ren, H., & Xiong, X., (2009). Ammonium nitrogen removals from coking wastewater by chemical precipitation recycle technology. Water Res. 43, 5209– 5215.
- 225. Zhang, T., Li, P., Fang, C., & Jiang, R., (2014). Phosphate recovery from animal manure wastewater by struvite crystallization and CO2 degasification reactor. Ecol. Chem. Eng. S 21 (1), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.2478/eces-2014-0008.
- 226. Zhang, T., Wang, Q., Deng, Y., & Jiang, R., (2018). Recovery of phosphorus from swine manure by ultrasound/H2O2 digestion, struvite crystallization, and ferric oxide hydrate/biochar adsorption. Front. Chem. 6, 464. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2018.00464.
- 227. Zhang, W., & Lau, A., (2007). Reducing ammonia emission from poultry manure composting via struvite formation. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 82 (6), 598–602. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.1701.
- 228. Zhang, Z., Li, B., Briechle, M. G., Wicaksana, F., Yu, W., & Young, B., (2021). Effect of acetic acid on struvite precipitation: An exploration of product purity, morphology and reaction kinetics using central composite design. Chemosphere, 285, 131486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131486
- 229. Zhao, Q., Zhang, T., Frear, C., Bowers, K., Harrison, J., & Chen, S., (2010). Phosphorous Recovery Technology in Conjunction with Dairy Anaerobic Digestion. CSANR Research Report 2010 – 001, Ch. 7.
- 230. Zhou, S., & Wu, Y., (2012). Improving the prediction of ammonium nitrogen removal through struvite precipitation. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 19 (2), 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0520-6.